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Twenty three great reasons 
to read The West Australian.
Meet the award-winning journalists and 
photographers from The West Australian. 
This photo includes three Walkley Award 
winners plus staff who have all won 
significant awards.
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“Our number one priority is quality. Quality in what we produce, quality in 
how we produce it and quality in our people, our systems and our processes.  
To continue to invest in quality is one of the most important things we  
as a company, and in fact the industry as a whole can do” 
Chris Wharton CEO

A better read
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Highlights

A good 
performance 
all round
Financial performance

2010 2009 Variance

$m $m %

Key financials

Revenue 409.2 418.0 (2.1)

EBITDA 171.7 175.4 (2.1)

EBIT 150.8 154.9 (2.6)

Net profit (before noteworthy items) 96.2 97.1 (0.9)

Net profit (as reported) 96.2 87.2 10.3

Key share data cents cents

Earnings per share (as reported) 45.0 41.5

Earnings per share (before noteworthy items) 45.0 46.2

Dividend per share 45.0 33.0

Operational performance
2010 2009 Variance

$m $m %

The West Australian (inc Magazines) 131.8 142.6 (7.6)

Regionals 11.8 11.3 4.4

Radio 2.7 2.5 8.0

Digital (1.8) (5.1) 64.7

Quokka 4.6 4.3 7.0

Community Newspapers 3.9 4.3 (9.3)

Corporate and other (2.2) (5.0) 56.0

EBIT 150.8 154.9 (2.6)

Financial news

1	�� Consolidated NPAT of $96.2m

2	� Reported EPS of 45.0¢ up 8.4%

3 	� Dividend per share of 45.0¢ 
up 36.4%

Operational news

1	� Global award for advertising 
initiative

2	� Global recognition for print quality

3 	� New newsprint supply 
arrangements
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Agenda

A colourful 
year

The West News

Community News

Community News

‘The Wire’ launched in 2009
The Wire is published every Thursday and targets 14 - 34 year olds 
who want to be at the cutting edge of music, film and fashion. 
Regular features, reviews, social pages and gig guides provide up 
to date coverage of what’s happening on the local scene. 

The West News

newspapers in education
Our newspapers in education program reaches over 900 schools 
throughout WA and assists teachers with workshops, site tours and 
curriculum and community based programs ensuring that young 
West Australians can benefit from this wonderful resource.  The 
program is internationally recognised having won an award at this 
year’s World Association of Newspapers conference in Europe. 

SUpporting 
the arts in wa
WAN supports over 20 diverse 
arts organisations each year, 
including the Perth International 
Arts Festival, West Australian 
Ballet, WASO and the Playhouse 
Theatre, ensuring that these 
and many other worthy bodies 
continue to benefit from The 
West’s ongoing support. 

Seven days and 
WEst Magazine redesigned
With over 826,000 readers of The Saturday West each week the 
new look glossy Seven Days and West Weekend Magazine offer 
something for everyone. From entertainment coverage 
including interviews, reviews, full TV and entertainment listings 
in Seven Days to in-depth articles, profiles, restaurant and food 
reviews and home and garden covering all the latest trends at 
home and abroad in the West Weekend. 

4
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Community News

Sponsorship News

Community News

The West News

HBF Run for a Reason
The inaugural HBF Run for a Reason 
was a joint initiative between HBF and 
The West to raise awareness and funds 
for Arthritis WA, Asthma Foundation of 
WA, Cancer Council WA, Diabetes WA, 
Heart Foundation and Lifeline WA. 
Raising over $250,000 for charity and 
attracting over 10,000 participants, the 
fun run is now firmly etched in the 
West Australian events calendar. 

Regional WA
Keeping regional WA informed 
through our network of regional 
newspapers and radio stations. 

New newsprint suppliers
The group has successfully negotiated and implemented  
new newsprint supply contracts which will deliver a positive 
financial outcome. 

5

Digital News

WJobs.com.au is launched
On-line employment and training site launched in May 2010. 
wjob.com.au has in excess of 15,000 jobs available to 
Western Australians. 

The WEst supports 
Telethon appeal
The group through both The  
West Australian and its regional 
operations increased our level  
of support for Telethon. 
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Chairman’s News

Investing in
our business
By Kerry Stokes AC Chairman

“�West Australian Newspapers is a 
company with great people, who 
have drive and energy”.
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The past twelve months have seen your 
company leverage the success of the strong 
local economy to continue to build  
the business and enhance its performance. 

Undoubtedly Western Australia continues 
to be the powerhouse of the Australian 
economy.  

West Australian Newspapers is a company 
with great people, who have drive and 
energy. They are delivering strong results 
in an Australian economy that has had its 
challenges – with fluctuations in consumer 
spending, uncertainty surrounding the 
proposed mining resources tax and most 
recently a federal election and a change in 
leadership of the government.

Twelve months ago at our AGM, we set out 
with a clear objective - to re-energise West 
Australian Newspapers.

We are pleased that we are now advancing 
that objective.  We have a reinvigorated 
and united Board, comprised of Peter 
Gammell, Don Voelte, Sam Walsh, Graeme 
John, Doug Flynn and myself.  We also 
have a new chief executive officer Chris 
Wharton and a new editor Brett McCarthy 
along with Sales Director David Bignold 
and  an experienced and committed team 
of  management executives: Rob Billington, 
GM Marketing & Circulation; Peter Bryant, 
CFO & Company Secretary; Bob Cronin 
Group Editor-in-Chief; Chris Ford, Group 
Project Manager; Ian Jones GM Regional 
Publications; Ian Kennedy GM Redwave 
Media; Liam Roche, GM Group Operations 
& Information Technology; Nick Sertis, GM 
Digital Operations and Rob Shearwood, 
GM Quokka, all of whom are responsible 
for the successful performance of our 
flagship  newspaper and the company.

As a company, I believe we have met the 
challenges that have been thrown our way.

I, and our Board, have committed ourselves 
to your company.   

Circulation for The West is strong – 

reflecting the strengthening of our editorial 

content and a continuing focus on 

enhancing our logistics and distribution 

networks with solid partnerships across 

Western Australia. 

Our strong circulation and readership 

figures confirm that newspaper publishing 

has a positive long-term future.  We have 

made significant advances in on-line and 

applications for the delivery of our editorial 

content on new technology platforms.  

Beyond The West we continue to focus on 

our regional publishing and broadcasting 

activities – actively investing in people, 

technology and resources across our 21 titles 

and 11 radio licences. This is a big state  

and our job is to reflect its aspirations and 

reflect the day-to-day lives and endeavours 

of all West Australians. Our commitment  

to regional publishing and broadcasting 

underlines our belief in the growth potential 

and future of Western Australia.

West Australian Newspapers is a great 

company.  It is your company.  I am pleased 

to report that it is well-placed to capture 

the benefits of a growing state economy.  

The business is strong and well-managed, 

with a clear sense of direction and defined 

objectives for growth and development.

I would like to thank all employees at The 

West for their part in making it the exciting 

and vital product it is today and to the 500 

staff across regional WA in our publishing 

and broadcasting ventures. 
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Name
Alex McKinnon

Job title
Editor, Geraldton Guardian

Time with WAN
2 years (1988-89 and 2009-present)

My story
With family connections in the 
Geraldton region stretching back more 
than a century, Alex McKinnon forged a 
deep connection with the local 
community whilst growing up on the 
family farm in Greenough, south of 
Geraldton. It was this same connection 
which saw Alex return to the area after 
two decades abroad to run the 
Geraldton Guardian’s editorial 
department in 2009. “Running the 
newspaper in Geraldton has been a 
dream come true,” he said. “My family is 
part of the Maley clan going back 150 
years in Geraldton so I have a strong 
local connection.”

Starting as a cadet with WAN in 1988, 
Alex decided to pursue his journalism 
dream in Vietnam where he worked on 
the country’s first western-run 
newspaper following the end of the 
Vietnam War. After seven years in South 
East Asia, Alex took a job at the BBC 
while also spending time in the United 
States working for various international 
media organisations. But ultimately a 
desire to return to the place where it all 
began proved too strong. “It felt really 
good to come home,” he said.

Since taking over as editor of The 
Guardian last November, Alex has set 
about improving the quality of the local 
paper while also focusing on his dream 
of opening Australia’s first dedicated 
regional media school. 
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Chief Executive Officer’s News

Better products 
mean better returns
By Chris Wharton Chief Executive Officer
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Our priority is quality.  
Quality in what we produce, 
quality in how we produce 
it and quality in our people, 
our systems and our 
processes. 

I have been CEO of the Group for just under 
two years and I can honestly say I have 
enjoyed almost every day. It’s a great 
company, with great people. We made 
significant progress during the 2010 
financial year, against a backdrop which 
included the remnants of the Global 
Financial Crisis and more recently the ill-
fated Resources Super Profits Tax (RSPT). 
Both events impacted the Group.

However, we appear to have ridden out the 
storm and through sound management 
practice, the efforts of a reinvigorated 
executive team and committed staff we 
have maintained margins, cash flow and 
profitability levels and we can now look 
forward to the future.

In my report last year, I said I believed that 
the future success of the Group was 
underpinned by maintaining a focus on 
getting the basics right.

We have come a very long way and I think 
we can now say with confidence the basics 
are looking pretty good. While there will 
always be scope for improvement, the 
business and the market in which we operate 
will continue to evolve and we will make 
changes to accommodate the evolution.

Financially, we finished the year with a solid 
result, despite being thrown a curve ball in 
early May, when the former Prime Minister, 
Mr Rudd, announced the RSPT, which at 
the time took more than a little momentum 
out of the Western Australian economy.

Last year’s results were impacted by a one 
off restructuring provision, which related 
largely to a redundancy program. If we 
adjust for the impact of the redundancy 
program on the 2009 results, this year’s 
NPAT is more or less at parity with the 
prior year.

I am very pleased with this result,  
which I can tell you was well up on our  
internal budgets. 

Reported Earnings Per Share for the year 
was 45.0 cents, up 8.4% year on year.

The company proposes to pay a final 
dividend of 26 cents, fully franked. This 
brings the total dividends for the year to 45 
cents, up 36% on last year. 

The policy in relation to dividends has not 
changed from the one announced in 
February 2009, which is to pay the 
maximum appropriate dividend, with 
regard to the company’s debt and capital 
management requirements.

The company also maintained its Dividend 
Reinvestment Plan (DRP) and held the 
discount at 3%, which is consistent with 
the level of discount applied to the past 
two dividend payments. The take up rate 
for the plan is currently 41.3%.

Total revenue for the Group was down 2.2% 
for the year due primarily to a reduction in 
advertising volumes. The good news is, 
from a soft GFC impacted start, we saw 
positive trends throughout the year. The 
reduction in revenue was offset by the 
effective management of consolidated 
expenditure, which for the year was also 
down 2.2%.
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Name
Yolanda Zaw

Job title
Cadet Journalist

Time with WAN
1 year (since February 2010)

My story
Born in Burma, Yolanda Zaw migrated 
to Australia with her parents at the age 
of five. 

Now 22, Yolanda was one of four young 
journalists handpicked by WAN’s 
editorial department to take part in its 
2010 cadetship program. Yolanda was 
offered a place at The West upon 
completion of a double degree in 
Journalism/Politics at Curtin University. 
Whist completing her degree, Yolanda 
spent two semesters studying abroad 
at universities in New Orleans and 
Copenhagen before completing a work 
placement stint at The West in her final 
year. As part of the cadet program, 
Yolanda has spent the past six months 
learning shorthand, attending field trips 
at various government departments 
and community organisations while also 
reporting in general news. Having 
mastered shorthand to a proficiency of 
120 words per minute, Yolanda is set to 
embark on the second stage of her 
cadetship which will see her complete 
one-month rotations in various editorial 
rounds including courts, business and 
features. Yolanda believes the past six 
months at The West has been an 
invaluable learning experience. “For an 
aspiring journalist, the cadetship is the 
best way to enter the industry,” she 
said. “We are given all the relevant 
training and are mentored by some of 
the best journalists in the State.” 
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I have said in the past, we are not about 
cost cutting; we are about spending money 
more effectively and wisely. We have and 
will continue to do so.

One of our focal points during the year was 
newsprint, which at approximately $55 
million in expenditure per annum represents 
the second biggest cost to the Group.

Over the past decade we have sourced 
90% of our newsprint from one 
supplier, under a long term 
contract which expired on 
June 30 this year. Rather 
than simply rolling into 
another similar long term 
arrangement, with the 
same supplier, we saw the 
expiry of the contract as an 
opportunity to undertake a 
detailed review of our newsprint 
supply arrangements.

We invested a lot of time and effort to ensure 
we had the best possible supply 
arrangements for the future. Much improved 
in terms of financial outcome, whilst 
remaining conscious of environmental 
impact and OHS controls. I am very happy 
with the outcome of the newsprint review 
process and I would like to summarise the 
final position.

The Group has entered into supply contract 
with three newsprint suppliers: Jeonju 
Paper Corporation South Korea, UPM 
France and the incumbent, Norwegian-
owned Norske Skog.

The Jeonju and UPM contracts account for 
80% of consumption. The contracts, which 
are in Australian dollars, run for three years.

The Norske Skog contract, which accounts 
for the remaining 20% of consumption, runs 
for 12 months, at the conclusion of which 
we will consider our options.

To help mitigate increased supply chain 
risk, which flows from the increased 

complexity of importing from South Korea 
and France, we have more than doubled 
the quantity of newsprint we have in 
storage in Perth.

Considerable savings will be delivered by 
this new arrangement.

Perhaps a less obvious, but in my view 
more significant, message to come from 
the newsprint deal is the company’s 

willingness, in fact desire, to 
challenge the status quo and 

make and embrace change 
when change is required.

So, what is front of mind 
for the year ahead?

In a word, priority one is 
quality, but by that I don’t 

mean going “upmarket”.

What we are focused on is quality 
in what we produce, quality in how 

we produce it and quality in our people, 
our systems and our processes.

To continue to invest in quality is one of 
the most important things we as a company 
and in fact an industry as a whole can do.

If there is a lesson to be taken from the 
decline in the newspaper sector in some 
overseas markets, I think it is “don’t 
compromise your product”. To the contrary, 
we must continually improve our products 
to ensure they remain relevant and 
desirable to our readers and advertisers.

Over the past year we have invested in 
the quality of our editorial product, and we 
plan to continue to focus on it as we  
move forward.

We have invested in the establishment of 
the correct structures and processes. We 
have a Group Editor-in-Chief, the highly 
respected and regarded Bob Cronin, a great 
Editor in Brett McCarthy and our new 
Walkley Award winning Deputy Editor, 
Michael Beach.

We have recruited two Walkley Award 
winners to join the team; Colleen Egan and 
the afore-mentioned Michael Beach. In 
addition, we have 21 other staff in our 
editorial team who have received various 
industry awards.

All of the above means improvement in the 
editorial quality of our product and I am 
heartened and proud of the feedback I 
continue to receive from the community 
and business alike about how they believe 
The West Australian continues to improve.

Under our new Sales Director, David 
Bignold, our focus is on developing creative, 
out of the box solutions for our advertising 
clients. We don’t just want to take their ad 
orders; we want to work with them to come 
up with ways that our products can 
improve their profitability. If, through their 
relationship with us, their cash registers 
ring, then our future looks good.

An initiative of which I am very proud is 
our on-line auction, Click2Bid. Besides 
being spectacularly successful for 
advertisers, readers and the company it 
won first place at the Annual International 
News Media Association Awards, in New 
York, for Advertising Sales and Retention 
initiatives, beating out the other finalists, 
the Sydney Morning Herald and the New 
York Times.

We have also formed a unique relationship 
with the State Government, to organise, 
run and promote a trade Skills Expo in WA. 

Thousands of young people were attracted 
to Perth from across the State for the Skills 
West Expo. The initiative was aimed at 
addressing the anticipated skills shortage 
in WA and actively encouraging and 
promoting career opportunities in the 
trades area.

State Government departments and large, 
medium and small companies supported 
the Skills West Expo.

Chief Executive Officer’s News

We must continually  
improve our products 
to ensure they remain 
relevant and desirable.
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Chief Executive Officer’s News

Even if the projected skills shortage is not 
as bad as some fear, it is a fantastic 
investment for WA to have its young people 
trained in good, solid trades. 

Through the course of their working lives 
they will make a massive contribution  
to the prosperity of the State and its  
future generations.

Skills West Expo did not just focus on skills 
associated with resources and mining – 
there was a plethora of other industries 
which offered fabulous opportunities for 
people to develop skills and provide for a 
very rewarding career.

As well as the community involvement and 
leadership role WAN took by being the 
catalyst for Skills West Expo, we were also 
able to leverage off this initiative to secure 
advertising revenue across the Group. We 
are planning a number of other expo events, 
which will yield additional new revenue.

Our investment in the quality of our 
advertising offerings has not all been 
focused on the front end.

We have successfully completed the 
implementation of a new advertising 
management system, which provides a 
solid, yet flexible backbone which can be 
used to facilitate more individually targeted 
ad packages across the Group.

We will also continue to invest in the 
quality of our production, infrastructure and 
back office function. Although these areas 
may lack the glitz and external exposure of 
the editorial and advertising functions, they 
are equally important. It does not matter 
what editorial produces, or what advertising 
sells, if we can’t produce the product, if we 
can’t distribute the product and if we can’t 
ensure we get paid, then it’s game over.

Our relationship with Skywest, which was 
formed during the year, is very strong and 
has delivered great results. Our Saturday 

Skywest service, which commenced in mid 

May sees our Saturday edition arrive into 

the North West well in advance of the 

shops opening, compared to the structure 

prior to Skywest when the paper arrived 

mid morning or sometimes mid afternoon. 

We plan to expand our current Saturday 

service to the North West to cover the 

remainder of the week. 

We have continued to focus on the development 

and maintenance of our production facilities,  

to ensure they remain amongst the best in  

the world.

I don’t use best in the world as a throw away 

line. Our production facilities and staff are 

among the best in the world, and this has 

been recognised internationally this year by 

IFRA - the World Association of Newspapers 

and News Publishers, who, after considerable, 

prolonged and stringent technical testing, 

admitted The West Australian, Seven Days 

magazine and The West’s New Homes 

magazine to the International Newspaper 

Colour Quality Club.

Equally as important as the initiatives 

outlined above, we will continue to invest in 

systems and processes. We have a new 

Finance system due to come on-line in early 

2011, and will shortly assess options for a 

new Circulation system.

The significance of these system changes, 

coupled with the recently commissioned 

new Advertising system, should not be 

underestimated. As previously said, these 

systems are replacing 20-plus-year-old “green 

screen” technology. The impact of the change 

has been, and will be, significant. Both in 

terms of the change being absorbed by our 

staff, and in terms of the flexibility the new 

systems will give us as we move forward.
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Name
Greg Shurman

Job title
Commercial Sales Director 

Time with WAN
15 years (1995-present)

My story
Despite more than four decades 
experience in the industry, Greg 
Shurman still enjoys the day-to-day 
challenges that come with working at 
one of WA’s most iconic companies. 

Starting his WAN journey back in 1995, 
Greg has spearheaded some of the 
most significant printing advances in 
company history.  In 2001, he was 
instrumental in the upgrade of 
platemaking, printing and post-press 
systems to rationalisation printing of all 
West Regional newspapers from three 
sites to one, ensuring all group 
publications had increased colour 
availability and allowing growth 
opportunities to be met. Three years 
later he spearheaded the relocation to 
Herdsman Print Centre and the 
replacement of all production 
equipment, resulting in the current 
operation of new generation computer-
to-platemaking, press, and post-press 
systems allowing print quality and 
production of all group publications to 
meet market expectations.  However 
the success of such ventures has not 
diluted Greg’s appreciation of teamwork.  

“I get a great sense of involvement as 
part of a team which I see working hard 
and smart to achieve a particular 
result,” he said. “For WAN to have 
achieved this upgrade on a working site 
was a major milestone in the company’s 
history and a credit to all involved.” 
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As it has been in the past, Digital remains 
front of mind. We are very aware of the 
digital environment. We are very happy 
with the advances we have made, but we 
understand the need to continue to develop 
our digital assets.

We don’t have an innate desire to be at the 
cutting edge, or perhaps more appropriately, 
the bleeding edge, when it comes to 
Digital. We are very happy to take well 
thought out steps that enhance our 
business. We are not happy to jump in 
boots and all, with our eyes closed, simply 
so we can claim to be in the digital space.

Our news site continues to perform 
exceptionally well from a site traffic 
perspective and is, and has been since it 
launched, the number one site in WA.

The reality is, even as the number 
one site, it just washes its face, 
a fact that is perhaps reflective 
of the challenges the industry 
faces in the provision of  
on-line news.

We continue to closely 
monitor the industry and 
moves being made to 
implement a user pays model. 
We were happy to see News Corp 
make steps towards a user paid model, 
with the establishment of a paywall for The 
Times and The Sunday Times in London. 
We were also happy to see a user paid 
model for their iPad application for  
The Australian.

Our Wjobs site, which was launched in 
Quarter 4, currently has a total of 15,000 
jobs, with 3,000 in WA. The site has 
experienced modest growth in traffic since 
its launch, and we are continuing to focus 
on growing the site.

In July 2010 we acquired a 25% equity 
holding in bloo.com.au, WA’s number one 
business directory.

Finally on Digital, we are continuing  
to investigate opportunities in various 
classified categories. There are a couple  
we like, which may or may not materialise.

We have invested in, and worked hard on, 
our Regional assets over the past year and I 
am very pleased with the progress being 
made by Ian Jones, the General Manager of 
our Regional publications, and his staff. 
There is still work to be done to bring our 
regional infrastructure, office systems and 
processes up to standard, but we have 
already reached a point where there is 
scope to expand.

In June we relocated our Radio Group into 
new state-of-the-art, purpose built studios, 
in our Newspaper House complex.

We now have capacity that facilitates 
expansion. That said, expansion 

in the radio space is highly 
regulated by licensing laws, 
thus to grow our footprint is 
likely to require acquisition. 
We have our eyes on some 
assets. Who knows if we 

will be able to convert desire 
to reality?

Our newspaper Group is not 
constrained by licensing laws and 
expansion in this market will likely be 
through creation, not acquisition.

Finally, the basics – Advertising, Circulation, 
Editorial and cost management.

Our focus on quality is all related to the 
basics. It is a sub-section really - quality 
will enhance all of the basics.

We have a great business, one that we are 
very proud of and one that I am very proud 
to be a part of.

Finally, and most importantly, I would like to 
thank our excellent Board for their support 
and guidance, the dynamic Executive team 

for their ongoing efforts and our fine staff for 

their continued support. We will continue to 

embark on some significant changes to the 

way we do business. The ultimate prize will 

be the growth of the Group and increased 

shareholder returns. 

The impact of change 
has been, and will be, 

significant.
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Who’s who

Kerry Stokes AC
Chairman

Doug Flynn
Non-Executive Director

Don Voelte
Non-Executive Director

Sam Walsh AO
Non-Executive Director

Peter Gammell
Non-Executive Director

Graeme John AO
Non-Executive Director
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Senior Management Team 

Top row from left to right: Chris Wharton Chief Executive Officer, David Bignold Sales Director, Rob Billington General Manager 
Marketing & Circulation, Peter Bryant Chief Financial Officer & Company Secretary, Bob Cronin Group Editor in Chief, Chris Ford 
Group Project Manager. Bottom row from left to right: Ian Jones General Manager Regional Newspapers, Ian Kennedy General 
Manager Redwave Media, Brett McCarthy Editor - The West Australian, Liam Roche General Manager Group Operations & Information 
Technology, Nick Sertis General Manager Digital, Rob Shearwood General Manager Quokka.
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Getting back to
the community

HBF Run for a Reason Fun Run

The West Australian Newspaper Group places a high level of 
importance on its continued investment in, and support of, 
the Western Australian community, both in the metropolitan 
and regional areas.
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People
The West Australian Newspaper Group 
employs approximately 1,600 people in 24 
locations across Western Australia. We 
value our people and recognise their direct 
input into the financial success of the 
business and ultimately the generation of 
shareholder returns.

The effect of the economic uncertainty  
of 2008/09, coupled with several key 
management changes, and the 
implementation of the voluntary redundancy 
program, resulted in the Group’s focus in 
2009/10 being on workforce stabilisation 
and the retention of existing employees. 

This strategy of stabilisation included the 
increased promotion of the Company’s 
Employee Assistance Program. Under the 
program, employees and their families have 
access to an external, confidential service, 
which provides support on both work and 
personal issues, services which, during 
periods of uncertainty associated with 
significant change can be very beneficial in 
ensuring employees remain comfortable in 
their work environment.

The West Australian Newspaper Group 
continues to emphasise employees and 
managers sharing a common sense of 
purpose with the Company, and aims to 
create a diverse workforce that is motivated 
and fulfilled in their employment. 

To support the needs of our employees, the 
Group placed increased emphasis on 
flexible working arrangements in 2009/10, 
such as flexible hours, an eight or nine day 
fortnight and job share arrangements.

This flexibility helps support our position as 
an Equal Employment Opportunity Employer. 
Approximately 50% of our workforce are 
females, with 31% in managerial positions.

To provide an environment that is motivating, 
fulfilling and safe, and in which everyone is 
treated fairly and with respect, the West 

Australian Newspaper Group requires 

employees to participate in Workplace 

Behaviour Training every two years. The 

Workplace Behaviour Training covers key 

matters relating to employee behaviour in the 

workplace, including bullying, discrimination, 

harassment, victimisation, internet & email 

usage, the employee code of conduct and 

freedom of association. This year 592 

employees participated in the training. 

Safety and health
The West Australian Newspaper Group 

remains committed to enhancing the 

health, safety and wellbeing of all staff. This 

commitment has led to the implementation 

of several health and safety initiatives over 

the financial year, which has contributed  

to a continued positive performance across 

the Group.

Our safety performance targets for the year 

were exceeded with a 34% reduction in Lost 

Time Injury Frequency Rate (LTIFR) achieved 

for the Group and a 32% reduction for our 

Production site. The Group and Production 

LTIFR’s were at least 50% lower than the 

latest reported industry benchmarks.

Our focus on early reporting has contributed 

to an increase in recorded injuries for the 

year, however injury severity remains low 

with minor injuries (those requiring no 

treatment or first aid only) remaining the 

highest proportion of total injuries recorded. 

Our low injury severity is influenced by our 

early intervention injury management 

system and is reflected in an 11% reduction 

in average Workers’ Compensation claim 

costs since 2008/09. Workers’ Compensation 

premium costs, as a percentage of payroll, 

were reduced by 42.5%, compared with our 

2008/09 premiums.
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Name
Maria Slater

Job title
Redwave Station Manager 
Port Hedland

Time with WAN
3 years (2007-2010)

My story
After working in the alcohol retail 
industry, Maria joined Redwave’s Port 
Hedland office as an Account 
Executive in July 2007. Maria became 
Station Manager in February 2009. 
This was also when she relocated to 
Victoria to access special medical care 
for her son, 2 year old Edward. 
Working from home in Melbourne, 
Maria flies in and out of Port Hedland 
to service clients once or twice a 
month. Her success has continued 
with consistent growth in revenue and 
the achievement of budgets. During 
the 2009/2010 financial year, Maria 
was nominated for an Australian 
Commercial Radio Award, in the 
category of Best Station Sales 
Achievement, Country. She is now a 
finalist for this nationally recognised 
award. Her success in Port Hedland 
has come from initiating and 
supporting local community events, 
increasing the profile of the Redwave 
brands and her ability to provide 
effective promotional solutions for 
clients, in a friendly and professional 
manner. She has achieved this while 
raising an energetic son, who travels 
with her every time she flies into town. 
Maria plays down her success stating, 
“I do not see myself as a radio sales 
person, just someone who enjoys a 
chat and meeting people”. 
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The Safety Accountability Program underpins 

safety management at our production site 

and engages facilitators from each 

department. External audited results rated all 

departments as achieving compliance or 

higher with a high proportion having 

demonstrated continuous improvement 

initiatives. 

A regular safety training schedule 

implemented to accommodate our 24 hour 

operation has facilitated maximum 

attendance and timelier access to training. 

Key safety topics included duty of care, 

hearing conservation, risk identification and 

control and management of hazardous 

substances. A new HazOb system was 

implemented to all production employees to 

improve hazard identification and control. 

Monitoring for changes in incident frequency 

and severity will continue into 2010/11.

The Group procured a new on-line incident 

reporting software for 2010/11 implementation. 

The software will enable improved scheduling 

of preventative actions and support 

efficiencies in incident management, risk 

control and reporting. 

Office ergonomic strategies to control the 

risk of musculoskeletal injuries included a 

review of staff resources and equipment, 

and an increased focus on workplace 

“accommodation” from recruitment, including 

enhanced induction training. The West 

Australian Newspaper Group has maintained 

its employee health programs to provide  

staff with resources to complement the 

management of their personal health and 

wellbeing. Health and wellness initiatives in 

2009/10 included our Employee Assistance 

Program, Flu vaccination program, onsite 24 

hours per day, 7 days per week gymnasium 

access and an onsite massage clinic.

Environment

The Group remains committed to 
environmental sustainability and 
acknowledges its community leadership 
role in integrating environmental initiatives 
throughout all aspects of our business. 

In line with Greening the West, 2009/10 
initiatives that fostered improvement of the 
Group as an environmentally responsible 
organisation included: 

•	 Relocating RedWave Media and WA 
Publishers to Newspaper House, 
resulting in improved efficiency 
through shared infrastructure and 
support resources

•	 Commissioning of a new waste 
conveyor at our Production site, further 
supporting our recycling initiatives

•	 Installing a grease trap system in the 
Production site canteen

•	 Scoping for replacing underground 
diesel tanks with an above ground 
alternative.

Key recycling activities at our Production 
site continue to include:

•	 Recycling aluminium printing plates for 
alternative use

•	 Re-using blanket wash 

•	 Laundering and re-using press  
cleaning rags

•	 Returning plastic roll cores to the 
manufacturer for re-use

•	 Redistributing plastic waste for 
recycling into new products

•	 Providing newspaper returns, press 
rejects, reel butt ends and newsprint 
stripped off reels for recycling into 
cardboard boxes, theatre tickets and 
egg cartons.

As a member of Publishers National 
Environment Bureau, the West Australian 
Newspaper Group supports recovery and 
recycling of newspapers and annually 

Sustainability
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Name
Amanda Burton

Job title
General Manager, West Solutions

Time with The West
2 years (2008-present)

My story
Amanda Burton and the team at 
West Solutions are quickly forging 
a reputation as world leaders in the 
newspaper marketing sector.  
Amanda has previously spent time 
at London’s The Independent 
Newspaper and British Airways, 
where she worked across a broad 
range of products. 

Responsible for running special 
projects which act as an extension 
to WAN’s current advertising 
department, Amanda has 
spearheaded a range of successful 
initiatives during her two years at 
the company.  But perhaps the 
most successful project undertaken 
has been the Click2Bid online 
auction.  An annual week-long 
event, Click2Bid this year won first 
place in the category of Advertising 
Sales and Retention (Circulation 
300,000) at the prestigious 
International Newspaper Marketing 
Awards in New York. Amanda said it 
was fantastic to have the auction 
recognised on an international 
scale.  “To walk away as first-place 
recipients reconfirms our belief that 
this sales program is a win-win 
scenario,” she said.  “It’s a win for 
the newspaper, for our advertisers 
and for our readers.” 
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donates free advertising space. Educational 
materials on recycling newspapers and 
magazines are provided free of charge to 
schools and Local Government waste 
education officers. In 2009/10 our 
Newspapers in Education department 
sourced a WA company to trial recycling of 
donated newspapers from local schools. 
Our Make it with Newspapers program 
continues to promote creative ways to 
recycle printed media and ties in with  
art, design and technology curriculum in 
our schools.

Community
The West Australian Newspaper Group 
places a high level of importance on its 
continued investment in, and support of, 
the Western Australian community, 
both in the metropolitan and 
regional areas. Communities 
throughout the state benefit 
from our ongoing financial, 
advertising and editorial 
support of community events 
of all shapes and sizes.

In the 2009/10 financial year, 
The West Australian Newspaper 
Group provided approximately $5 
million in advertising sponsorship to over 
100 organisations. The recipients of this 
support included a large number of 
business, arts and sporting bodies, many 
of whom with which The West Australian 
has long standing relationships.

Highlights during the year included the 
inaugural HBF “Run for a Reason”, a joint 
initiative between HBF and The West 
Australian to raise awareness and funds 
through a fun run for six worthy causes: 
Arthritis WA, Asthma Foundation of WA, 
Cancer Council WA, Diabetes WA, Heart 
Foundation and Lifeline WA. Staged in 
May 2010 the event attracted over 10,000 
registered participants and generated over 
$250,000 for the six charities. Planning  

is already underway for 2011 with 
expectations that it will even be bigger 
and brighter next year.

Among the many other worthy causes The 
West partnered with the Days of Change 
organisations to launch and promote “Days 
of Change” an initiative focused on raising 
awareness for energy conservation and 
sustainability. Over 42,000 West Australians 
registered to participate and pledged to 
make a change for the better.

While both of the events above were totally 
new concepts during the year, two of our 
longstanding causes, The Salvation Army 
and Foodbank, were top of mind, 
particularly at a time when the delayed 
effects of GFC, rising interest rates and 

increasing economic pressure 
within our community resulted 

in increased demand on the 
services of these two great 
charities. The Group, 
through both The West 
Australian and its regional 
operations, increased our 

level of support for Telethon.

During the year our 
sponsorship support has included 

the following organisations:

Community Events

•	 Avon Descent

•	 Channel 7 Christmas Pageant

•	 Days of Change

•	 Fashion Friday

•	 Footballer of the Year Awards

•	 FotoFreo

•	 Freeway Bike Ride (Asthma 
Foundation)

•	 Great Escapade Bike Ride

•	 Great West Australian Bike Ride

•	 HBF Run For A Reason 

•	 John Hughes Big Walk

•	 Margaret River Wine Festival

•	 Musselfest

•	 Trufflefest

•	 WA Press Photographer of the Year

19

Hopman Cup

We remain committed 
to enhancing the

health, safety and 
wellbeing of all staff.
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Charity and Not For Profit 
Organisations

•	 Cerebral Palsy Association

•	 Charity Link

•	 Leukaemia Foundation

•	 Make A Wish Foundation

•	 Meerlinga Young Children Foundation

•	 Ngala

•	 Princess Margaret Hospital

•	 Ronald McDonald House Charities

•	 Silver Chain 

•	 Starlight Foundation

•	 Telethon 

Arts and Entertainment

•	 Australian Ballet 

•	 Barking Gecko Theatre 

•	 Black Swan Theatre 

•	 CinefestOz

•	 His Majesty’s Theatre

•	 John Curtin Gallery

•	 Luna Palace Cinema Festivals

•	 Moonlight Cinemas

•	 Movies by Burswood

•	 Perth International Arts Festival

•	 Perth Theatre Company

•	 Playhouse Theatre

•	 Revelation Film Festival

•	 Scitech

•	 Shakespeare In The Park

•	 WA Symphony Orchestra

•	 WA Youth Ballet

•	 West Australian Ballet

•	 West Australian Youth  
Jazz Orchestra

Sport 

•	 Fremantle Dockers

•	 Gloucester Park

•	 Hopman Cup

•	 Little Athletics

•	 Perth Glory

•	 Racing Hall of Fame

•	 Sports Star of The Year

•	 WACA

•	 WAFL 

•	 West Coast Eagles

•	 Western Force

•	 Wildcats

Business

•	 AIM

•	 CCI

•	 Dymocks Literary Events

•	 Family Business Association

•	 WA Industry & Export 
Awards

Our goal is to maintain our 
support for the West 
Australian community and 
to positively touch the lives 
of as many people 

throughout the state through 
our association with key 

properties, events, charities and 
not for  

profit organisations.

The West Australian recognises the important 
role that sport, arts and entertainment, 
community program, charities, business and 
major events play in the lives of West 
Australians at all levels  and will remain 
committed to providing extensive sponsorship 
support to each sector.  

Perth Wildcats - Winners of the 2009/10 NBL

The Group has 
provided close to 

$5 million in advertising 
sponsorship support

20
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The financial report covers the 
consolidated financial statements 
for the Group consisting of West 
Australian Newspapers Holdings 
Limited and its subsidiaries.  The 
financial report is presented in the 
Australian currency.

West Australian Newspapers 
Holdings Limited is a company 
limited by shares, incorporated 
and domiciled in Australia.  Its 
registered office and principal place 
of business is Newspaper House, 50 
Hasler Road, Osborne Park, WA 6017.

A description of the nature of the 
Group’s operations and its principal 
activities is included in the review 
of operations and activities in 
the directors’ and chief executive 
officer’s reports, both of which are 
not part of the financial report.

The financial report was authorised 
for issue by the directors on 7 
September 2010.  The directors 
have the power to amend and 
reissue the financial report.
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Directors’ report

Your directors present their report on the Group consisting of 
West Australian Newspapers Holdings Limited and the entities it 
controlled at the end of, or during, the year ended 30 June 2010.

Directors
The following persons were directors of West Australian 
Newspapers Holdings Limited during the whole of the financial 
year and up to the date of this report, unless otherwise stated:

KM Stokes AC – Chairman

DR Flynn

PJT Gammell

GT John AO

DR Voelte

SMC Walsh AO

RK Stokes and BI McWilliam are alternate directors to KM Stokes 
and PJT Gammell respectively. Mr Stokes and Mr McWilliam do 
not receive any remuneration for acting as alternate directors.

Kerry Stokes AC - Chairman – Non-Executive Director

Mr Stokes, 69, has been the Executive Chairman of Seven Group 
Holdings Limited since its formation in May 2010, prior to which 
he was the Executive Chairman of Seven Network Limited, from 
July 1999, and Non-Executive Chairman from June 1995.

He is Chairman of Australian Capital Equity Pty Limited, which 
has significant interests in activities which include media and 
entertainment, research and technology development, property 
and industrial activities.

Mr Stokes is a Companion in the General Division of the Order of 
Australia (AC).

Doug Flynn – Independent Non-Executive Director

Mr Flynn, 61, graduated in chemical engineering from the 
University of Newcastle, New South Wales. He received an MBA 
with distinction from Melbourne University in 1979. 

Mr Flynn was appointed Chief Executive of newspaper publisher 
Davies Brothers Limited in 1987, the company was acquired by 
News Corporation in 1989.

During his career at News Limited Group, Mr Flynn held positions 
as Deputy Managing Director of News International Newspapers 
Ltd, Director of News International Plc, and Managing Director of 
News International Plc.

Mr Flynn then held Chief Executive positions with Aegis Group 
Plc and Rentokil Initial Plc in London, before returning to Australia 
in 2008.

In April 2008 he became a consultant to, and a director of, Qin Jia 
Yuan Media Services Ltd, the leading private television company 
in China.

Peter Gammell – Non-Executive Director

Mr Gammell, 53, is the Deputy Chairman of Australian Capital 
Equity Pty Ltd (ACE), the holding company associated with Mr 
Kerry Stokes. He was the Managing Director for the last 20 years.

Mr Gammell was recently appointed Chief Executive Officer of 
Seven Group Holdings Limited, a public company listed on the 
Australian Stock Exchange which was formed as a result of the 
merger of Seven Network Limited and WesTrac Holdings Pty Ltd.

Mr Gammell served as a Director of Seven Network Limited for 
the last 14 years. He was Chairman of the Seven Network Limited 
Finance Committee and was a member of the Audit committee. 
He is the Chairman of Coates Hire, Australia’s largest equipment 
hire company.

Mr Gammell is a former Director of Federal Capital Press Pty Ltd, 
the publisher of the Canberra Times (1989 – 1998) and is a former 
Director of the Community Newspaper Group (1996 – 1998). 

Mr Gammell is a member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants 
of Scotland and holds a Bachelor of Science degree from the 
University of Edinburgh.

Graeme John AO – Independent Non-Executive Director

Mr John, 67, was Managing Director of Australia Post from 1993 
to 2009. He is a Fellow of the Chartered Institute of Transport 
and a Member of the Australian Institute of Company Directors.  
He is a Board  member of QR National, Racing Victoria and an 
AFL Commissioner.

He is a former Chairman of the Board of the Kahala Posts Group, 
Board member of the International Post Corporation (Netherlands), 
and Vice-Chairman of Sai Cheng Logistics International (China), a 
joint venture with China Post.

Mr John was awarded the Officer of the Order of Australia 
(AO) in 2003, for service to business and to the community. He 
is also a recipient of the Centennial Medal and the Australian  
Sports Medal.

Don Voelte – Independent Non-Executive Director

Mr Voelte, 57, has significant experience in the global oil and gas 
industry, and has been Managing Director and Chief Executive 
Officer of Woodside Petroleum Limited since joining the company 
in 2004.

Prior to joining Woodside Petroleum Limited, Mr Voelte held a 
number of Senior Executive positions in the oil and gas sector.

Mr Voelte is a member of the Board of Woodside Petroleum 
Limited and the University of Western Australia Business 
School, and is a member of the Society of Petroleum Engineers, 
the American Society of Civil Engineers, the Chi Epsilon Honor 
Society, a Foreign Fellow to ATSE (FTSE) and a Fellow to the 
Australian Institute of Company Directors (AICD). He is a trustee 
of the University of Nebraska Foundation and was awarded the 
University of Nebraska Engineering Alumni of Year in 2002.

He has a degree in Civil Engineering, from the University  
of Nebraska.

Sam Walsh AO – Independent Non-Executive Director

Mr Walsh, 60, was appointed Chief Executive of Rio Tinto Iron Ore 
in December 2004, with responsibilities including Rio Tinto’s iron 
ore operations in Australia, Canada, Guinea and India. 

In June 2009, Mr Walsh was appointed as an executive director to 
the Boards of Rio Tinto Plc and Rio Tinto Limited, and in November 
2009 he was appointed chief executive of Rio Tinto Australia. He 
is also the Rio Tinto Executive Committee sponsor for Australia, 
India and West Africa.

Prior to joining Rio Tinto, Mr Walsh worked in the automotive 
industry for more than 20 years in Australia and the USA.
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He has a Bachelor of Commerce from Melbourne University and 
has completed a Fellowship Program at Kettering University in 
Michigan. He was awarded Honorary Doctor of Commerce in 
January 2010 by Edith Cowan University.

Mr Walsh is a Fellow of the Australian Institute of Management, 
the Australian Institute of Mining & Metallurgy, the Chartered 
Institute of Purchasing & Supply and the Australian Institute 
of Company Directors, a Vice president of the Australia-Japan 
Business Co-operation Committee, Chair of the WA Chapter of the 
Australia Business Arts Foundation, and the Chairman of the Rio 
Tinto Western Australia Future Fund, patron of the State Library 
of Western Australia Foundation, a patron of the UWA Hackett 
Foundation and President of Scouts Australia (WA Branch). 

In 2007, Mr Walsh was awarded an Australian Export Hero and 
Western Australian Citizen of the Year - Industry & Commerce.

Mr Walsh was awarded an Order of Australia (AO) in 2010, for 
his work in the mining industry and establishing employment 
programs for Indigenous Australians.

Peter Bryant – Chief Financial Officer & Company 
Secretary

Mr Bryant, 43, joined the company in April 2008.

Prior to joining the West Australian Newspapers Holdings Group 

he was the Company Secretary and Chief Financial Officer of GRD 

Limited, where he had been employed for eight years. 

His commercial experience also includes several financial and 

management rolls within a significant private, Perth based, 

entrepreneurial group.

He is a Chartered Accountant. He commenced his professional 

career with Ernst & Young, spending time in their offices in Perth, 

UK and USA.

Principal activities

The principal continuing activities of the Group consisted of 

newspaper and digital (online) publishing, commercial printing 

and radio broadcasting.

Dividends – West Australian Newspapers Holdings Limited

Dividends paid to members during the financial year were as follows:

2010 2009

$’000 $’000

Final ordinary dividend for the year ended 30 June 2009 of 10 cents (2008 – 32 cents)  
per share paid on 30 September 2009 21,071 66,244

Interim ordinary dividend for the year ended 30 June 2010 of 19 cents (2009 – 23 cents)  
per share paid on 31 March 2010 40,309 47,657

61,380 113,901

In addition to the above dividends, since the end of the financial year the directors have declared the payment of a final ordinary 
dividend of $55,797,000 (26 cents per share) to be paid on 30 September 2010.

Review of operations
A summary of consolidated results is set out below:

2010 2009

$’000 $’000

Profit before income tax 134,109 122,095

Income tax expense (37,886) (34,851)

Profit attributable to ordinary equity holders of West Australian Newspapers
Holdings Limited 96,223 87,244

Profit before income tax expense includes the following specific expenses whose disclosure  
is relevant in explaining the financial performance of the Group:

Restructuring costs

Personnel costs including employee redundancy provisions and payments - (13,672)

Other - (395)

- (14,067)

A review of operations of the Group is given on pages 8 to 13.
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Significant changes in the state of affairs
Significant changes in the state of affairs of the Group which occurred during the financial year were as follows:

(a)	 A decrease in current provisions of $14,735,000 from $19,460,000 to $4,725,000 due mainly to utilisation of the provision for 
restructuring created in the previous financial year.

(b)	 A decrease in non-current borrowings of $57,000,000 from $318,000,000 to $261,000,000 due in part to the lower cash outflows as a 
result of the dividend reinvestment plan.

Matters subsequent to the end of the financial year
There are no matters or circumstances which have arisen since 30 June 2010 that have significantly affected or may significantly affect:

(a)	 the Group’s operations in future financial years; or

(b)	 the results of those operations in future financial years; or

(c)	 the Group’s state of affairs in future financial years.

Likely developments and expected results of operations
In the opinion of the directors it would prejudice the Company’s interests if any further information on likely developments in the 
operations of the Group and the expected results of operations were included in this report, and the omission of such information is 
hereby disclosed.

Environmental regulation
The Group’s major production complex does not require a discharge licence under the Environmental Protection Act 1986 and no formal 
reporting is required to either the Environmental Protection Authority or the National Pollutant Inventory.

Minor spillages in prior years had resulted in a need for remedial work to be carried out. In May 2009, the Department of Environment 
and Conservation confirmed the remediation had been completed and reclassified the site as remediated for restricted use.

Greenhouse gas and energy data reporting requirements
With the introduction in 2008/09 of a national greenhouse gas emissions and energy reporting framework for businesses through a 
combination of new legislation (National Greenhouse and Energy Reporting Act 2007) and existing legislation (Energy Efficiency 
Opportunities Act 2006), the Group underwent an initial analysis of emissions from its sites. Collectively, emissions from the Group’s 
businesses did not meet the thresholds for mandatory reporting, with total consumption well below 87,500 tonnes of greenhouse gas 
emissions and 350 terajoules of energy.

Meetings of directors
The numbers of meetings of the Company’s board of directors and of each board committee held during the year ended 30 June 2010, 
and the numbers of meetings attended by each director were:

Meetings of Directors Audit and Risk Remuneration and Nomination

(a) (b) (a) (b) (a) (b)

Directors

KM Stokes AC 8 8 - - 2 2

DR Flynn 8 8 5 6 - -

PJT Gammell 8 8 6 6 - -

GT John AO 8 8 - - 2 2

DR Voelte 8 8 - - 2 2

SMC Walsh AO 8 8 6 6 - -

Alternate directors

BI McWilliam - - - - - -

RK Stokes - - - - - -

(a)	 Number of meetings attended. 

(b)	 Number of meetings held during the time the director held office or was a member of the committee during the year.
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Directors’ interests in shares
As at the date of this report the interests of the directors in the 
shares of the Company were:

Number of ordinary 
shares

KM Stokes AC 51,637,034

DR Flynn 9,209

PJT Gammell 9,423

GT John AO 8,288

DR Voelte 8,057

SMC Walsh AO 24,075

Remuneration report
This report describes the remuneration arrangements for directors 
and executives of the West Australian Newspapers Holdings 
Limited Group.

The information provided in this remuneration report has been 
audited as required by section 308(3C) of the Corporations Act 
2001.

The Board has established a Remuneration & Nomination 
Committee (the “Committee”). Its role is described in the corporate 
governance statement in this annual report, and includes  
the following :

-	 To recommend to the Board the remuneration of non-
executive directors, within the aggregate approved by 
shareholders;

-	 To recommend to the Board the remuneration and other 
conditions of service of the chief executive officer;

-	 To approve the remuneration and other conditions of service 
for senior executives reporting to the chief executive officer, 
based on the recommendations of the chief executive 
officer;

-	 To design the executive incentive plans and approve 
payments or awards under such plans; and

-	 To establish the performance hurdles associated with the 
incentive plans.

This report is set out under the following main headings:

A.	 Principles used to determine the nature and amount of 
remuneration

B.	 Details of remuneration

C.	 Service agreements

D.	 Share-based compensation

A.	� Principles used to determine the nature and amount 
of remuneration

	 Directors

Fees and payments to non-executive directors reflect the 
demands which are made on, and the responsibilities of, the 
directors. Non-executive directors’ fees and payments are 
reviewed by the Committee and, where appropriate, changes 
are recommended to the board. The Committee has the 
discretion to seek the advice of independent remuneration 
consultants to ensure non-executive directors’ fees are 

appropriate and in line with the market. The chairman’s fees 
are determined in the same way.

The aggregate of payments each year to non-executive 
directors must be no more than the amount approved by 
shareholders in general meeting. The current aggregate 
is $1,200,000, which was approved at the AGM held on 5 
November 2008.

The current fees paid are $120,000 per annum for non-
executive directors and $300,000 per annum for the chairman. 
The Company’s statutory superannuation contributions are 
included in these amounts. Non-executive director fees were 
last increased in July 2007.

In order to more closely align the interests of the non-
executive directors with shareholder interests in the creation 
of value for shareholders as a whole, non-executive directors 
are obliged to receive at least 25% of their annual fees in 
shares in the Company. These shares are purchased on-
market at prevailing prices and must be held in trust for ten 
years unless the director retires or a specified event occurs.

	 Chief executive officer

The remuneration package of the chief executive officer, 
including performance based incentives, is set by the 
Board, on the recommendation of the Committee. Where 
appropriate, the Committee seeks independent advice.

Mr Wharton was appointed chief executive officer on 15 
December 2008.

Mr Wharton’s annual remuneration comprises a fixed 
annual remuneration (FAR) component, which is inclusive 
of superannuation and other benefits, a short term cash 
incentive (STI) and a long term equity incentive (LTI).

Mr Wharton’s STI is assessed annually, based on his 
performance against a basket of Key Performance Indicators 
(KPIs), established at the commencement of each annual 
review period by the Committee and approved by the Board. 
The KPIs comprise both qualitative and quantitative targets, 
with each category given equal rating. Within the qualitative 
grouping there are six KPIs, which for the year ended 30 June 
2010 focused on the development of the Group’s reputation, 
engagement with the community, the development of the 
Group’s regional and digital assets and the establishment 
of a quality management team. The quantitative grouping 
comprised five KPIs and focused on revenue generation, 
circulation growth, cost management, profitability and 
health, safety and environment. The maximum STI that can 
be earned by Mr Wharton equates to 50% of his FAR.

Mr Wharton’s LTI program, under which equity in the 
Company can be earned, has two hurdles, or assessment 
points, which ultimately determine his LTI entitlement.

The first hurdle provides access to the program, and 
establishes an unvested number of share rights. The second 
hurdle determines the number of shares that vest and thus 
will be received by the CEO.
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Remuneration report (continued)

A.	� Principles used to determine the nature and amount 
of remuneration (continued)

Under the first hurdle, which is applied annually on 30 
June, the CEO may be granted unvested share rights, in 
accordance with the following :

-	 Where reported EPS growth for the year is equal to CPI 
+ 6%, the CEO is granted an allocation equal in value to 
25% of his FAR.

-	 Where reported EPS growth for the year is equal to CPI 
+ 8%, the CEO is granted an allocation equal in value to 
50% of his FAR.

-	 Where reported EPS growth is between the two 
thresholds above, the allocation is determined on a pro-
rata basis.

Once share rights have been granted, a second hurdle 
is applied to determine the number of shares that will  
ultimately vest.

The second hurdle is assessed three years after the shares 
were granted. The second hurdle is based on the Company’s 
Total Shareholder Return (TSR).

The TSR performance hurdles are :

-	 If TSR is within the 50-75 percentile of a comparative 
group, then the percentage ranking, multiplied by the 
available LTI share rights, will vest.

-	 If TSR is within the 75-100 percentile of a comparative 
group, then the percentage of available LTI share rights 
that vest will be from 75% to 150% of the available share 
rights, calculated on a pro-rata basis.

In the event that minimum TSR performance hurdle for 
year three is not achieved, the share rights granted can 
be carried forward for two years, with a re-test performed 
in each of these years, based on the TSR over four or five  
years respectively.

The maximum value of shares issued under the LTI program, 
assuming all hurdles are passed at the highest level, equates 
to 75% of Mr Wharton’s FAR.

For the year ended 30 June 2010 no share rights were 
granted under the terms of Mr Wharton’s LTI program.

The Board believes it is in the best interest of the Company 
to ensure that the CEO’s annual remuneration package is 
reasonable and represents an appropriate reward for both the 
financial and operational results achieved during the period. 
The Board therefore reserves the right to, in exceptional 
circumstances, make a discretionary allocation of share 
rights to the CEO.

Should the Company terminate Mr Wharton’s contract, 
other than for serious misconduct, Mr Wharton will be 
entitled to 3 months notice. In lieu of such notice, he may 
be paid an amount determined by reference to his fixed  
annual remuneration.

	 Executives

The remuneration packages of executives, including 
performance based incentives, are set by the Committee, 
on the recommendation of the CEO. Where appropriate, the 
Committee seeks independent advice.

The objective of the Company’s executive reward framework 
is to ensure reward for performance is competitive with other 
employers and appropriate for the results delivered.

The reward structure aligns the interests of executives with 
shareholders’ interests as it has economic profit as a core 
component of the plan’s design, coupled with a focus on 
key non-financial drivers of value. The plan provides a clear 
structure for earning rewards and provides recognition for 
contribution to growth in the Company’s profits and value.

The executive remuneration packages provide a mix of 
fixed annual remuneration (FAR) and at risk short term cash 
incentives (STIs).

Executives’ FAR is reviewed annually, or in line with 
promotion or increased responsibility, to ensure the 
executive’s remuneration is competitive with the market.

Executives’ FAR can include non-cash benefits, which may 
include the use of a motor vehicle.

There are no guaranteed FAR increases included in any 
executive’s contract.

The executives participate in an STI program. Under the 
program, should the executives achieve pre-determined 
targets set by the Committee then cash incentives are 
payable to executives. The incentive targets are leveraged 
for performance above a threshold to provide an incentive for 
executive performance.

The maximum STI that can be earned by the executives 
is between 35% and 75% of the executive’s FAR. Details of 
the relative proportions for each executive are contained in 
section B of this report.

Targets, which are established annually at the commencement 
of each annual review period, include both a quantitative 
and qualitative component, developed with reference to the 
accountabilities of the role and its impact on organisation or 
business unit performance.

Although the exact composition of KPIs varies for each 
executive, broadly speaking each executive has eight KPIs 
which are given equal weighting between qualitative and 
quantitative targets.

Within the qualitative grouping the KPIs, for the year 
ended 30 June 2010, focused on the development of the 
Group’s reputation, engagement with the community, the 
development of the Group’s regional and digital assets and 
the establishment of appropriately resourced and structured 
operating divisions. The quantitative KPIs focused on 
revenue generation, circulation growth, cost management, 
profitability and health, safety and environment.

The average STI payout ratio, for the year, was 85%.
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Remuneration report (continued)
A.	� Principles used to determine the nature and amount of remuneration (continued)

	 Link between remuneration policy and company performance

The Company’s remuneration policy aligns the level of STIs paid to the chief executive officer and executives to the profit growth 
of the Company. The theme of linking remuneration policy directly to company performance for 2010/11 is extended to long term 
incentives (LTIs) granted to the chief executive officer, who is entitled to receive share rights on the basis outlined above.

The Committee considers that the performance linked remuneration structure adopted by the Company is generating an outcome 
that is directly aligned with the generation of shareholder wealth.

The following table sets out the Company’s performance over the last 5 financial years:

2006 2007 2008 2009 2010

Profit after tax (before noteworthy items*) ($’000’s) 107,508 128,437 127,342 (a) 97,091 96,223

Profit after tax (as reported) ($’000’s) 69,264 53,968 109,935 87,244 96,223

Ordinary dividends per share with respect  
to year (cents) 50.0 61.0 53.0 33.0 45.0

Diluted earnings per share (as reported) (cents) 33.1 25.8 52.5 41.5 45.0

Diluted earnings per share (before noteworthy items*) 
(cents) 51.4 61.4 60.9 (a) 46.2 45.0

Growth/(decline) in earnings per share  
(before noteworthy items*) (%) 10.6 19.5 13.8 (a) (24.1) (2.6)

Share price as at 30 June ($) 8.73 13.70 7.90 4.36 6.54

(a)	 For the purposes of calculating the 2008 percentage EPS movement, the profit after tax (before noteworthy items) for 2007 was 
restated to $111,885,000 to exclude the discontinued Hoyts operations. In 2008, the after-tax profit on the sale of the commercial 
printing operation’s property of $5,386,000 was a management KPI and is thus included in the profit after tax.

*	 For details of noteworthy items refer note 8 to the financial statements.

B.	 Details of remuneration

	 Amounts of remuneration

Details of the remuneration of the directors of West Australian Newspapers Holdings Limited and key management personnel (as 
defined in AASB 124 Related Party Disclosures) of the Group, are set out in the following tables. Personnel noted include the 5 
highest paid executives of the Group.

The key management personnel of the Group at 30 June 2010 are the directors of West Australian Newspapers Holdings Limited 
(as per page 22 above), the chief executive officer and certain executives that report directly to the chief executive officer, being:

DM Bignold	 Sales Director (appointed 1/8/09)

RA Billington	 General Marketing – Marketing and Circulation

PJ Bryant	 Company Secretary & Chief Financial Officer

BA McCarthy	 Editor, The West Australian

LM Roche	 General Manager – Group Operations and Information Technology

CS Wharton	 Chief Executive Officer
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Remuneration report (continued)

B.	 Details of remuneration (continued)

2010 Short-term benefits Post-employment benefits

Name
Cash salary 

and fees
Cash bonus 

& incentives

Non- 
monetary 

benefits
Super-

annuation
Termination 

benefits
Share-based 

payments Total

$ $ $ $ $ $ $

Non-executive directors of the Company 

KM Stokes AC - 
Chairman 214,691 - - 13,745 - (i) 71,564 300,000

DR Flynn 42,700 - - 50,000 - (i) 27,300 120,000

PJT Gammell 81,900 - - 10,800 - (i) 27,300 120,000

GT John AO 81,900 - - 10,800 - (i) 27,300 120,000

DR Voelte 81,900 - - 10,800 - (i) 27,300 120,000

SMC Walsh AO 54,600 - - 10,800 - (i) 54,600 120,000

Other key management personnel of the Group

DM Bignold (viii) 242,368 (ii) 200,000 (vii) 25,320 25,680 - - 493,368

RA Billington 259,255 (iii) 140,304 - 14,461 - - 414,020

PJ Bryant 381,704 (iv) 125,339 (vii) 27,510 14,461 - - 549,014

BA McCarthy 266,255 (v) 200,000 - 12,983 - - 479,238

LM Roche 237,490 (vi) 188,004 (vii) 30,239 49,461 - - 505,194

CS Wharton 739,599 (iv) 333,466 - 14,461 - (ix) - 1,087,526

TL Garven
(retired 6/11/09) 92,878 - - 50,006 (x) 57,054 - 199,938

PF Stevens
(retired 30/11/09) 70,916 - (vii) 10,614 55,942 (x) 154,897 - 292,369

Totals 2,848,156 1,187,113 93,683 344,400 211,951 235,364 4,920,667

(i) Shares in the Company acquired on-market in terms of (viii) Mr Bignold commenced with the Group during the previous financial
the Non-Executive Directors Share Plan approved by year and was appointed to the position of Sales Director on 1/8/09. 
shareholders at the annual general meeting of the Remuneration disclosed in this report is for the whole of the financial 
Company on 7 November 2002. year ended 30/6/10.

(ii) STI being 89% of available STI (11% forfeited). (ix) No share rights available under Mr Wharton’s LTI program were 
(iii) STI being 69% of available STI (31% forfeited). granted. Subsequent to the 2010 financial year a discretionary
(iv) STI being 87% of available STI (13% forfeited). granting of share rights was made to Mr Wharton – refer note below.
(v) STI being 95% of available STI (5% forfeited). (x) Termination benefits are determined by reference to the employee’s
(vi) STI being 79% of available STI (21% forfeited). contractual entitlement. Amount does not include termination
(vii) Provision of motor vehicle. benefits accrued at 30/6/09 and paid during 2009/10 – refer page 29

for details.

Subsequent to the conclusion of the 2010 financial year, the Board, on the recommendation of the Remuneration & Nomination 
Committee, approved a discretionary granting of 41,081 share rights to Mr Wharton on 3 August 2010. In making this discretionary 
allocation, the Board considered the following items:

-	 The Group had been impacted by the Global Financial Crisis and had performed very well, under the circumstances.

-	 The Group’s reported net profit after tax was up 18% on internal budgets.

-	 The Company share price was up 50%, compared to the prior year.

-	 The Group had reduced net debt by 18%.

-	 The CEO had successfully delivered significant change and improvement to the Group.

The share rights will vest in accordance with the TSR hurdles, outlined earlier in this report.

Further information on remuneration of directors and other key personnel is set out in the corporate governance statement and 
note 28 to the financial statements.
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Remuneration report (continued)

B.	 Details of remuneration (continued)

2009 Short-term benefits Post-employment benefits

Name

Cash 
salary  

and fees
Cash bonus 

& incentives

Non- 
monetary 

benefits 
(viii)

Super-
annuation

Termination 
benefits (xii)

Share- based 
payments Total

$ $ $ $ $ $ $

Non-executive directors of the Company 

KM Stokes AC – Chairman
(appointed 25/9/08) 140,479 - - 10,028 -  (i) 46,827 197,334

DR Flynn (appointed 6/8/08) 12,576 - - 71,124 - (i) 24,585 108,285

PJT Gammell (appointed 25/9/08) 63,018 - - 8,310 - (i) 21,006 92,334

GT John AO (appointed 3/12/08) 47,775 - - 6,300 - (i) 15,925 70,000

DR Voelte (appointed 11/12/08) 47,775 - - 6,300 - (i) 15,925 70,000

SMC Walsh AO  
(appointed 11/12/08) 31,850 - - 6,300 - (i) 31,850 70,000

E Fraunschiel (retired 5/11/08) 28,438 - - 3,750 - (i) 9,479 41,667

PJ Mansell (resigned 3/12/08) 56,875 - - 11,250 - (i) 56,875 125,000

JA Seabrook (resigned 3/12/08) 34,125 - - 4,500 - (i) 11,375 50,000

MK Ward (resigned 3/12/08) 34,125 - - 4,500 - (i) 11,375 50,000

Executive director of the Company

KN Steinke (resigned 11/12/08) 397,613 - - 36,902 1,852,793 (xi) (901,200) 1,386,108

Other key management personnel of the Group

RA Billington 259,255 (vii) 30,000 - 13,745 - (ix) - 303,000

PJ Bryant 312,924 (v) 31,500 - 13,745 - (ix) - 358,169

TL Garven 278,005 (iii) 100,000 - 99,995 (xiii) 756,000 (ix) - 1,234,000

BA McCarthy (appointed 23/3/09) 73,006 (v) 32,308 - 1,478 - (ix) - 106,792

LM Roche 272,490 (iv) 85,000 30,249 13,745 - (ix) - 401,484

PF Stevens 184,744 (vi) 42,000 30,249 100,000 (xiii) 635,040 (ix) - 992,033

CS Wharton (appointed 15/12/08) 394,048 (ii) 100,000 - 8,018 - (ix) - 502,066

PA Armstrong (resigned 16/1/09) 205,049 - 16,492 28,384 471,717 - 721,642

AR Bradshaw (resigned 31/12/08) 108,890 - - 9,644 155,121 - 273,655

BO Yates (retired 31/7/08) 13,722 (x) 30,000 2,004 3,935 - - 49,661

Totals 2,996,782 450,808 78,994 461,953 3,870,671 (655,978) 7,203,230

(i) Shares in the Company acquired on-market in terms of the Non- (ix) No amounts available under the WANH Deferred Bonus
Executive Directors Share Plan approved by shareholders at the Plan were earned (100% forfeited).
annual general meeting of the Company on 7 November 2002. (x) Discretionary bonus paid on retirement.

(ii) STI being 50% of available STI (50% forfeited). (xi) Value ascribed to the forfeiture of share rights upon
(iii) STI being 66% of available STI (34% forfeited). termination.
(iv) STI being 67% of available STI (33% forfeited). (xii) Termination benefits are determined by reference to the
(v) STI being 100% of available STI (none forfeited). employee’s contractual entitlement.
(vi) STI being 33% of available STI (67% forfeited). (xiii) Represents accrual as at 30 June 2009, benefits will be
(vii) STI being 27% of available STI (73% forfeited). paid in 2009/10.
(viii) Provision of motor vehicle.

Further information on remuneration of directors and other key personnel is set out in the corporate governance statement and 
note 28 to the financial statements.
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Remuneration report (continued)

B.	 Details of remuneration (continued)

The relative proportions of total possible remuneration that are linked to performance and those that are fixed are as follows:

Name Fixed remuneration At risk – STI (at max) At risk – LTI (at max)

2010 2009 2010 2009 2010* 2009

Executive director of West Australian Newspapers Holdings Limited

KN Steinke (resigned 11/12/08) - 100% - - - -

Other key management personnel of the Group

DM Bignold (appointed 1/8/09) 57% - 43% - - -

RA Billington 57% 57% 43% 23% - 20%

PJ Bryant 75% 73% 25% 7% - 20%

BA McCarthy (appointed 23/3/09) 57% 56% 43% 24% - 20%

LM Roche 57% 55% 43% 24% - 21%

CS Wharton (appointed 15/12/08) 50% 50% 25% 25% 25% 25%

PA Armstrong (resigned 16/1/09) - 100% - - - -

AR Bradshaw (resigned 31/12/08) - 100% - - - -

TL Garven (retired 6/11/09) 100% 57% - 23% - 20%

PF Stevens (retired 30/11/09) 100% 55% - 24% - 21%

BO Yates (retired 31/7/08) - 100% - - - -

* The LTI plan for executives other than the chief executive officer was terminated on 1 July 2009.

Further information on remuneration of directors and other key personnel is set out in the corporate governance statement and 
note 28 to the financial statements.

C.	 Service agreements

The terms of employment for the chief executive officer and the other key management personnel are formalised in employment 
contracts, the major provisions of which are set out below.

	 Chief executive officer

-	 Employment agreement, no fixed term, 3 months notice of termination;

-	 A performance related short term cash incentive, reviewed annually;

-	 A long term incentive, which provides the opportunity to earn the right to have shares in the Company issued or transferred to 
him.

	 Other key management personnel

-	 Employment agreement, no fixed term, between 3 to 12 months notice of termination;

-	 A performance related short term cash incentive, reviewed annually.

D.	 Share-based compensation

	 (a)	Executive and employee share plans

Prior to 2003, the Company offered plans for the purchase of shares in the Company by executives and employees. Details of 
the plans are as follows:

	 (i)	 West Australian Newspapers Holdings Limited Executive Share Purchase and Loan Plan

This plan was approved at the annual general meeting of the Company on 9 October 1992. The operation of this plan has been 
suspended and no executives have been invited to apply for shares since 2002.

	 (ii)	 West Australian Newspapers Holdings Limited Employee Share Plan

This plan was approved at the annual general meeting of the Company on 22 October 1993. The operation of the plan has been 
suspended and no employees have been invited to apply for shares since 2002.
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Remuneration report (continued)

D.	 Share-based compensation (continued)

	 (b)	Share rights granted as compensation

Subsequent to the conclusion of the 2010 financial year, the Board, on the recommendation of the Remuneration & Nomination 
Committee, approved a discretionary granting of 41,081 share rights to Mr Wharton. In making this discretionary allocation, the 
Board considered the following items:

-	 The Group had been impacted by the Global Financial Crisis and had performed very well, under the circumstances.

-	 The Group’s reported net profit after tax was up 18% on internal budgets.

-	 The Company share price was up 50%, year on year.

-	 The Group had reduced net debt by 18%.

-	 The CEO had successfully delivered significant change and improvement to the Group.

The share rights will vest in accordance with the TSR hurdles, outlined earlier in this report.

	 (c)	 Non-executive directors share plan

Information regarding shares issued under the non-executive directors share plan can be found in sections A and B of the 
remuneration report on pages 25 to 30 and in note 38 to the financial statements.

Insurance of directors and officers
During the financial year, the Company paid a premium in respect of a contract insuring all directors and officers (including employees) 
of the Company and of related bodies corporate against certain liabilities specified in the contract. The contract prohibits disclosure of 
the nature of the liabilities insured and the amount of the premium.

Non-audit services
The Company may decide to employ the auditor on assignments additional to their statutory audit duties where the auditor’s expertise 
and experience with the Company and/or the Group are important.

The board of directors has considered the position and, in accordance with the advice received from the audit committee, is satisfied 
that the provision of the non-audit services is compatible with the general standard of independence for auditors imposed by the 
Corporations Act 2001. The directors are satisfied that the provision of non-audit services by the auditor did not compromise the auditor 
independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 for the following reasons:

-	 all non-audit services have been reviewed by the audit committee to ensure they do not impact the impartiality and objectivity of 
the auditor

-	 none of the services undermine the general principles relating to auditor’s independence as set out in APES 110 Code of Ethics for 
Professional Accountants.

A copy of the auditor’s independence declaration as required under section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001 is set out on page 32.

Details of amounts paid or payable to the auditor, PricewaterhouseCoopers, for audit and non-audit services provided during the year are 
set out in note 29 to the financial statements.

Rounding of amounts
The Company is of a kind referred to in Class Order 98/0100, issued by the Australian Securities and Investments Commission, relating 
to the “rounding off” of amounts in the directors’ report. Amounts in the directors’ report have been rounded off in accordance with that 
Class Order to the nearest thousand dollars, or in certain cases, to the nearest dollar.

This report is made in accordance with a resolution of the directors.

KM Stokes AC

Chairman

Perth, Western Australia

7 September 2010
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Auditor’s independence declaration

As lead auditor for the audit of West Australian Newspapers Holdings Limited for the year ended  
30 June 2010, I declare that to the best of my knowledge and belief, there have been:

(a)	 no contraventions of the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001  
in relation to the audit; and

(b)	 no contraventions of any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit.

This declaration is in respect of West Australian Newspapers Holdings Limited and the entities  
it controlled during the period.

Justin Carroll

Partner

PricewaterhouseCoopers

Perth

7 September 2010

Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
ABN 52 780 433 757

QV1
250 St Georges Terrace
PERTH WA 6000
GPO Box D198
PERTH WA 6840
DX 77 Perth
Australia
Telephone	 +61 8 9238 3000
Facisimile	 +61 8 9238 3999
www.pwc.com/au
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Corporate governance statement

This statement outlines the main corporate governance practices 
that were in place throughout the financial year, unless otherwise 
stated.

The board
The board has adopted a board charter* setting out the purpose 
and role of the board, its responsibilities and powers. The charter 
also documents the way the board functions.

The board is assisted in carrying out its responsibilities by the 
audit and risk committee and the remuneration and nomination 
committee.

The board has established a framework for the management of the 
Company which includes a system of internal control, a business 
risk management process and the establishment of appropriate 
ethical standards for directors and employees.

The board currently consists of six non-executive directors, 
including the chairman, a majority of whom are independent 
directors. In determining whether a director is independent, 
the guidelines contained in Accounting Standard AASB 1031 
“Materiality” are followed in determining whether a supplier or 
customer is a material supplier or customer.

All non-executive directors, other than Mr Stokes AC and Mr 
Gammell are independent directors.

Mr Stokes AC and Mr Gammell are not regarded as independent 
within the framework of the guidelines because of their positions 
within Seven Group Holdings Limited, which is ultimately a major 
shareholder. Seven Group Holdings Limited was formed during 
the year as a result of the merger of Seven Network Limited and 
WesTrac Holdings Pty Ltd. Both Mr Stokes AC and Mr Gammell 
have lodged Standing Notices of Interest, in relation to their 
previous positions with Seven Network Limited, with the Company, 
which were tabled at the board meeting on 4 November 2008.

Procedures have been put in place to ensure observance of both 
the letter and the spirit of dealing correctly with issues which 
might give rise to a conflict of interest.

The board has adopted a written code of conduct* for directors 
which establishes guidelines for their conduct in matters such as 
ethical standards and conflicts of interests. The code is based on 
that developed by the Australian Institute of Company Directors. 
Directors have the right to seek independent professional 
advice at the expense of the Company. Directors are permitted 
to trade in securities of the Company at any time subject to 
applicable statutory restrictions and after reference to the  
company secretary.

The board undertakes reviews of its own performance, with 
external advice as appropriate.

Directors
Details regarding the Company’s directors are set out in the 
directors’ report.

Meetings of directors
The numbers of meetings of the Company’s board of directors 
and of each board committee held during the year ended 30 June 
2010, and the numbers of meetings attended by each director are 
set out in the directors’ report.

Remuneration and nomination committee
A charter* sets out the role and responsibilities of the committee 
which comprised the following members, all of whom are 
independent directors, except for Mr Stokes AC:

DR Voelte (Chairman)

KM Stokes AC

GT John AO

PJ Bryant (Secretary)

The committee reviews remuneration packages and policies 
applicable to the chief executive officer and senior executives. 
This includes share schemes, incentive performance packages, 
superannuation entitlements, retirement and termination 
entitlements, fringe benefit policies and professional indemnity and 
liability insurance policies. External advice is sought as appropriate.

The committee also obtains independent advice on the 
appropriateness of the level of fees payable to non-executive 
directors and makes recommendations to the board.

Further details of directors’ and executives’ remuneration, 
superannuation and retirement payments are set out in the 
remuneration report which forms part of the directors’ report and 
notes 28 and 38 to the financial statements.

The composition of the board is regularly reviewed by the 
committee to ensure that the board has the appropriate mix 
of expertise and experience. When a vacancy exists, through 
whatever cause, or where it is considered that the board would 
benefit from the services of a new director with particular skills, 
potential candidates are identified by the committee with advice 
from an external consultant if deemed appropriate. The board then 
appoints the most suitable candidate who must stand for election 
at the next general meeting.

The chief executive officer is invited to committee meetings, 
as required, to discuss management performance and  
remuneration packages.

Audit and risk committee
A charter* sets out the role and responsibilities of the committee 
which during the year comprised the following members, all of 
whom are independent directors except for Mr Gammell:

PJT Gammell (Chairman)

DR Flynn

SMC Walsh AO

PJ Bryant (Secretary)

Mr Gammell is considered by the board to be suitably qualified 
to discharge the responsibilities of chairing the committee. The 
relationship between the Company and Seven Group Holdings 
Limited is not such as to affect his independence of mind 
regarding the office he holds.

The role of the committee is to advise on the establishment 
and maintenance of a framework of internal control for the 
management of the Company, to ensure that the Company has 
an effective risk management system in order for risks to be 
identified and managed effectively, that accounting policies are 
appropriately applied and that financial information is fairly and 
correctly reported. 
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Audit and risk committee (continued) 

The internal and external auditors, and the chief executive officer, 
are invited to meetings at the discretion of the committee.

The Company requires that the external audit firm rotates the 
engagement partner in accordance with accepted best practice.

Internal control framework
The board acknowledges that it is responsible for the overall 
internal control framework, but recognises that no cost effective 
control system will preclude all errors and irregularities. To assist 
in discharging this responsibility, the board has instigated an 
internal control framework which includes:

Internal audit

An internal auditor reports directly to the company secretary and 
the chairman of the audit and risk committee and is responsible 
for monitoring, investigating and reporting on the internal  
control systems.

Financial reporting

There is a comprehensive budgeting system with an annual 
budget approved by the directors. Weekly and monthly actual 
results are reported against budget and revised forecasts for 
the year are prepared regularly. The Company reports to the 
Australian Securities Exchange (ASX) quarterly - see “Continuous  
Disclosure” below.

Special reports

The Company has identified a number of key areas which are 
subject to regular reporting to the board such as environmental, 
legal and health and safety matters.

Business risks
The board requires reports on major risks affecting the Company and 
requires management to develop strategies to mitigate these risks.

To assist the board in this regard, the audit and risk committee 
of the board established a risk assessment panel to investigate, 
monitor and report on all material areas of risk affecting the 
Group. The panel comprises senior executives with Group wide 
responsibilities under the chairmanship of the internal audit 
manager. External advice is sought as appropriate.

Once a major risk is identified, an action plan is instigated. 
Corrective action is taken as soon as practicable and the 
committee informed of the action taken. Major business risks 
arise from such matters as action by competitors; government 
policy changes; changes in the price of raw materials; difficulties 
in sourcing raw materials; the purchase, development and use of 
information and production systems; and the impact, or potential 
impact, of digital media on newspaper circulation.

Continuous disclosure
The Company is committed to complying with the continuous 
disclosure obligations of the Corporations Act 2001 and the listing 
rules of the ASX and has adopted a continuous disclosure policy*.

The Company follows a program of quarterly disclosures to the 
market on financial and operational results and has established 
policies and procedures to ensure that a wide audience of investors 
has access to information given to ASX for market release.  

Media releases, quarterly financial reports and results presentations 
are lodged with ASX and upon confirmation of receipt by ASX, 
they are posted to the Company’s website.

In order to protect against inadvertent disclosure of price sensitive 
information, the Company imposes communication blackout 
periods for financial information between the ends of financial 
reporting periods (31 March, 30 June, 30 September and 31 
December) and the announcement of results to the market.

Code of conduct
The Company has adopted a code of conduct for employees*. It 
provides a framework of ethical principles for conducting business 
and dealing with customers, employees and other stakeholders. 
The code sets out the responsibilities of employees to the Company 
and requires employees to avoid conflicts of interest, misuse of 
Company property and accepting or offering inappropriate gifts. 
Employees are permitted to trade in securities of the Company at 
any time subject to applicable statutory restrictions and, if senior 
executives, after reference to the company secretary.

Shareholder communication
The Company recognises the right of shareholders to be informed 
of matters which affect their investment in the Company and has 
adopted a shareholder communication policy*. The Company 
maintains a website which displays both corporate governance 
documents and up to date information released to ASX.

Corporate Governance Principles and 
Recommendations (2nd Edition)
In August 2007, the ASX Corporate Governance Council 
issued a paper entitled ‘Corporate Governance Principles and 
Recommendations (2nd Edition)’.

The paper replaces the best practice recommendations issued 
in March 2003 and is applicable for the first financial year, 
commencing on or after 1 July 2008.

The Company elected for the early adoption of ‘Corporate 
Governance Principles and Recommendation (2nd Edition)’, and 
applied its principles for the year ended 30 June 2008. The extent 
to which the Company has followed these recommendations is 
summarised below.

1.	 Lay solid foundations for management and oversight

The board has adopted a charter setting out its roles and 
responsibilities*.

Key terms and conditions relating to the appointment of non-
executive directors and senior executives, appointed after 
the recommendations became effective, are set out in formal 
engagement letters.

The process adopted by the Company to evaluate the 
performance of senior executives and non-executive directors 
is documented within the annual report.

The chief executive officer and chief financial officer are 
employed pursuant to engagement agreements which 
include formal job descriptions.
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Corporate Governance Principles and 
Recommendations (2nd Edition) (continued)

2.	 Structure the board to add value

The board has adopted the recommended definition 
of ‘independent director’ and has addressed the issue  
of materiality.

The majority of non-executive directors are independent.

The roles of the chairman and chief executive officer  
are separate.

The board has established a remuneration and nomination 
committee* to oversee the selection and appointment of new 
directors.

3.	 Promote ethical and responsible decision making

The board undertakes reviews of its own performance, with 
external advice, as appropriate.

The board has adopted a code of conduct for directors 
and employees* which includes a policy on trading in the 
Company’s securities.

4.	 Safeguard integrity in financial reporting

The board requires the chief executive officer and chief 
financial officer to state in writing to it that the Company’s 
financial reports represent a true and fair view, in all 
material respects, of the Company’s financial condition 
and operational results in accordance with the relevant 
accounting standards.

The board has established an audit and risk committee*. 
While the chairman is not an independent director, he is 
considered suitable for the role.

5.	 Make timely and balanced disclosure

The board has adopted a continuous disclosure policy*.

6.	 Respect the rights of shareholders

The board has adopted a shareholder communication policy*.

Shareholders are given a reasonable opportunity to ask 
questions of the board at general meetings. The external 
auditor is available at such meetings to answer questions 
from shareholders on matters relating to the audit of the 
Company’s financial statements.

7.	 Recognise and manage risk

The board has adopted an internal control framework and a 
risk management policy both of which are discussed earlier 
in this report.

The chief executive officer and chief financial officer 
are required to state in writing to the board that the 
risk management and internal compliance and control 
systems are operating effectively and efficiently in all  
material respects.

8.	 Remunerate fairly and responsibly

The board’s remuneration policy is discussed in the 
remuneration report which forms part of the directors’ report.

*	These documents can be found on the Company’s website 
at www.thewest.com.au or copies can be requested from the 
company secretary.
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Consolidated statement of comprehensive income
for the year ended 30 June 2010

Consolidated

2010 2009

Notes $’000 $’000

Revenue from operations 5 409,174 418,619

Other income 6 468 40

Finance costs 7 (19,938) (21,011)

Depreciation and amortisation 7 (20,932) (20,529)

Editorial contributions (3,239) (3,211)

Electricity (2,211) (2,016)

Maintenance agreements (2,505) (3,833)

Marketing and promotion expenses (5,991) (6,378)

Newsprint consumed (56,415) (55,357)

News services (2,848) (2,848)

Personnel costs

- Recurring (111,816) (114,675)

- Redundancy cost 8 - (13,672)

Printing services – external (1,071) (1,243)

Raw materials and consumables used (excluding newsprint) (9,326) (9,409)

Repairs and maintenance (3,275) (2,888)

Road and air freight (17,917) (17,559)

Other expenses from ordinary activities (21,918) (26,212)

Share of net profit of associate accounted for using the equity method 35(b) 3,869 4,277

Profit before income tax 134,109 122,095

Income tax expense 9 (37,886) (34,851)

Profit attributable to the ordinary equity holders of the Company 26(c) 96,223 87,244

Other comprehensive income

Interest rate cash flow hedges 26(a) 3,334 (13,371)

Income tax relating to components of other comprehensive income 26(a) (1,000) 4,011

Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax 2,334 (9,360)

Total comprehensive income for the year attributable to owners  
of the Company 98,557 77,884

Earnings per share for profit attributable to the ordinary equity holders  
of the Company

Basic earnings per share 37(a) 45.4 cents 42.1 cents

Diluted earnings per share 37(b) 45.0 cents 41.5 cents

The above consolidated statement of comprehensive income should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Consolidated balance sheet

as at 30 June 2010

Consolidated

2010 2009

Notes $’000 $’000

ASSETS
Current Assets

Cash and cash equivalents 10 12,065 14,982

Trade and other receivables 11 57,705 53,592

Inventories 12 13,123 12,270

Total current assets 82,893 80,844

Non-current assets

Investments accounted for using the equity method 13 11,228 11,609

Available-for-sale financial assets 14 777 777

Property, plant and equipment 15 213,523 224,303

Intangible assets 17 132,869 130,023

Total non-current assets 358,397 366,712

Total assets 441,290 447,556

LIABILITIES
Current liabilities

Trade and other payables 18 23,940 25,685

Derivative financial instruments 19 257 4,137

Current tax liabilities 6,434 6,692

Provisions 20 4,725 19,460

Other liabilities 21 1,962 825

Total current liabilities 37,318 56,799

Non-current liabilities

Borrowings 22 261,000 318,000

Derivative financial instruments 19 547 -

Deferred tax liabilities 16, 23 10,924 3,988

Provisions 24 950 966

Total non-current liabilities 273,421 322,954

Total liabilities 310,739 379,753

Net assets 130,551 67,803

EQUITY
Contributed equity 25 126,520 100,949

Reserves 26 (413) (2,747)

Retained profits/(accumulated deficit) 26(c) 4,444 (30,399)

Total equity 130,551 67,803

The above consolidated balance sheet should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Consolidated statement of changes in equity
for the year ended 30 June 2010

Contributed 
equity Reserves

(Accumulated 
deficit)/

retained 
earnings Total equity

Notes $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Balance at 1 July 2008 88,037 8,085 (3,742) 92,380

Total comprehensive income for the year - (9,360) 87,244 77,884

Transactions with owners in their capacity  
as owners

Decrease in equity compensation reserve 26(b) - (1,472) - (1,472)

Proceeds relating to shares issued pursuant 
	 to the executive and employee share 

	 purchase plans 25(b) 362 - - 362

Dividend reinvestment plan share issues 25(b) 12,550 - - 12,550

Dividends paid 27 - - (113,901) (113,901)

12,912 (1,472) (113,901) (102,461)

Balance at 30 June 2009 100,949 (2,747) (30,399) 67,803

Total comprehensive income for the year - 2,334 96,223 98,557

Transactions with owners in their capacity  
as owners

Proceeds relating to shares issued pursuant 
	 to the executive and employee share 

	 purchase plans 25(b) 1,128 - - 1,128

Dividend reinvestment plan share issues 25(b) 24,443 - - 24,443

Dividends paid 27 - - (61,380) (61,380)

25,571 - (61,380) (35,809)

Balance at 30 June 2010 126,520 (413) 4,444 130,551

The above consolidated statement of changes in equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Consolidated statement of cash flows

for the year ended 30 June 2010

Consolidated

2010 2009

Notes $’000 $’000

Cash flows from operating activities

Receipts from customers (inclusive of goods and services tax) 447,216 472,348

Payments to suppliers and employees (including redundancy payments 
and inclusive of goods and services tax) (296,080) (289,273)

151,136 183,075

Dividends received 4,250 4,550

Interest received 483 589

Finance costs (20,227) (21,154)

Income taxes paid (32,207) (33,671)

Net cash inflow from operating activities 39 103,435 133,389

Cash flows from investing activities

Payments for computer software (5,738) (4,726)

Payments for property, plant and equipment (8,208) (5,835)

Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 394 7,616

Net cash outflow from investing activities (13,552) (2,945)

Cash flows from financing activities

Proceeds relating to shares issued pursuant to the executive and employee 
share purchase plans 1,128 362

Proceeds from borrowings 176,000 205,000

Repayment of borrowings (233,000) (229,000)

Dividends paid (36,928) (101,346)

Net cash outflow from financing activities (92,800) (124,984)

Net (decrease)/increase in cash held (2,917) 5,460

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the financial year 14,982 9,522

Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year 10 12,065 14,982

The above consolidated statement of cash flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Notes to the financial statements
30 June 2010

1.	 Summary of significant accounting policies
The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation 
of this consolidated financial report are set out below. These 
policies have been consistently applied to all the years 
presented, unless otherwise stated. The financial statements 
are for the Consolidated Entity consisting of West Australian 
Newspapers Holdings Limited (“Company” or “Parent Entity”) 
and its subsidiaries.

(a)	 Basis of preparation

These general purpose financial statements have been 
prepared in accordance with Australian Accounting 
Standards, other authoritative pronouncements of the 
Australian Accounting Standards Board, Urgent Issues Group 
Interpretations and the Corporations Act 2001.

Compliance with IFRS

The consolidated financial statements of the West Australian 
Newspapers Holdings Limited Group also comply with 
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as issued 
by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB).

Historical cost convention

These financial statements have been prepared under the 
historical cost convention, as modified by the revaluation of 
derivative instruments held at fair value.

Critical accounting estimates

The preparation of financial statements requires the use 
of certain critical accounting estimates. It also requires 
management to exercise its judgement in the process of 
applying the Group’s accounting policies. The areas involving 
a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where 
assumptions and estimates are significant to the financial 
statements, are disclosed in note 3.

Financial statement presentation

The Group has applied the revised AASB 101 Presentation 
of Financial Statements which became effective from 1 July 
2009. The revised standard requires the separate presentation 
of a statement of comprehensive income and a statement of 
changes in equity. All non-owner changes in equity must 
now be presented in the statement of comprehensive income. 
As a consequence, the Group changed the presentation of 
its financial statements. Comparative information has been 
re-presented so that it is also in conformity with the revised 
standard. This revised standard impacts presentation only 
and has no effect on reported results.

Comparatives

Comparative information is reclassified where appropriate to 
enhance comparability.

(b)	 Principles of consolidation

(i)	 Subsidiaries

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the 
assets and liabilities of all subsidiaries of West Australian 
Newspapers Holdings Limited as at 30 June 2010 and 
the results of all subsidiaries for the year then ended. 
West Australian Newspapers Holdings Limited and its 

subsidiaries together are referred to in this financial 
report as the “Group” or the “Consolidated Entity”.

Subsidiaries are all those entities over which the Group 
has the power to govern the financial and operating 
policies, generally accompanying a shareholding of more 
than one half of the voting rights.

Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on 
which control is transferred to the Group. They are de-
consolidated from the date that control ceases.

The acquisition method of accounting is used to account 
for the acquisition of subsidiaries by the Group (refer to 
note 1(h)).

Intercompany transactions, balances and unrealised 
gains on transactions between Group companies are 
eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless 
the transaction provides evidence of the impairment of 
the asset transferred. Accounting policies of subsidiaries 
have been changed where necessary to ensure 
consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.

(ii)	 Associates

Associates are all entities over which the Group 
has significant influence but not control, generally 
accompanying a shareholding of between 20% and 
50% of the voting rights. Investments in associates are 
accounted for in the consolidated financial statements 
using the equity method of accounting, after initially 
being recognised at cost. The Group’s investment in 
associates includes goodwill (net of any accumulated 
impairment loss) identified on acquisition.

The Group’s share of its associates’ post-acquisition 
profits or losses is recognised in profit or loss, and its 
share of post-acquisition movements in reserves is 
recognised in reserves. The cumulative post-acquisition 
movements are adjusted against the carrying amount of 
the investment. Dividends receivable from associates are 
recognised in the consolidated financial statements as a 
reduction in the carrying amount of the investment.

When the Group’s share of losses in an associate equals 
or exceeds its interest in the associate, including any 
other unsecured long-term receivables, the Group does 
not recognise further losses, unless it has incurred 
obligations or made payments on behalf of the associate.

Unrealised gains on transactions between the Group and 
its associates are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s 
interest in the associates. Unrealised losses are also 
eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an 
impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting policies of 
associates have been changed where necessary to ensure 
consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.

(c)	 Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent 
with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating 
decision makers. The chief operating decision makers 
have been identified as the chief executive officer, the 
chief financial officer and other relevant members of the  
executive team.
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Notes to the financial statements

30 June 2010

1.	� Summary of significant accounting policies 
(continued)

(c)	 Segment reporting (continued)

Change in accounting policy

The Group has adopted AASB 8 Operating Segments from 1 
July 2009. AASB 8 replaces AASB 114 Segment Reporting. 
The new standard requires a ‘management approach’ under 
which segment information is presented on the same basis 
as that used for internal reporting purposes. Previously 
reported segments were determined in accordance with 
criteria prescribed in AASB 114. This has resulted in an 
increase in the number of reportable segments presented.

There has been no impact on the measurement of the 
Group’s assets and liabilities.

Segment disclosures in note 4 have been disclosed in 
accordance with the new standard, and comparatives have 
been restated.

(d)	 Foreign currency translation

(i)	 Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of each of 
the Group’s entities are measured using the currency of 
the primary economic environment in which the entity 
operates (‘the functional currency’). The consolidated 
financial statements are presented in Australian dollars, 
which is the Group’s presentation currency.

(ii)	 Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the 
functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at 
the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and 
losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions 
and from the translation at year-end exchange rates of 
monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign 
currencies are recognised in profit or loss.

(e)	 Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration 
received or receivable. Amounts disclosed as revenue are net 
of commissions, discounts, rebates, returns, trade allowances 
and duties and taxes paid. The Group recognises revenue 
when the amount of revenue can be reliably measured, it is 
probable the future economic benefits will flow to the entity 
and specific criteria have been met for each of the Group’s 
activities as described below. The amount of revenue is not 
considered to be reliably measurable until all contingencies 
relating to the sale have been resolved.

Revenue is recognised for the major business activities  
as follows:

(i)	 Advertising

Revenue is recognised when the advertisement has been 
published or broadcast.

(ii)	 Circulation and commercial printing

Revenue is recognised when control of goods has passed 
to the buyer.

(iii)	Rendering of services

Revenue is recognised when the service has been 
performed.

(iv)	Rents

Rents are recognised on a time proportion basis.

(v)	 Interest

Interest revenue is recognised on a time proportion basis 
that takes into account the effective yield on the asset.

(vi)	Dividends

Dividends are recognised when the right to receive 
payment is established.

(f)	 Income tax

The income tax expense for the period is the tax payable on 
the current period’s taxable income based on the national 
income tax rate adjusted by changes in deferred tax assets and 
liabilities attributable to temporary differences and to unused 
tax losses.

Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the liability method, 
on temporary differences arising between the tax bases of assets 
and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the consolidated 
financial statements. However, the deferred income tax is not 
accounted for if it arises from initial recognition of an asset or 
liability in a transaction other than a business combination that 
at the time of the transaction affects neither accounting nor 
taxable profit or loss. Deferred income tax is determined using 
tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted or substantially 
enacted by the reporting date and are expected to apply when 
the related deferred income tax asset is realised or the deferred 
income tax liability is settled.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for deductible temporary 
differences and unused tax losses only if it is probable that future 
taxable amounts will be available to utilise those temporary 
differences and losses. Management have determined that 
deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities associated with 
intangibles that have an indefinite useful life, such as mastheads, 
should be measured based on the tax consequences that would 
follow from the sale of that asset. Deferred tax assets are only 
booked where recovery of that asset is probable.

Deferred tax liabilities and assets are not recognised for 
temporary differences between the carrying amount and tax 
bases of investments in controlled entities where the parent 
entity is able to control the timing of the reversal of the 
temporary differences and it is probable that the differences will 
not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a 
legally enforceable right to offset current assets and liabilities 
and when the deferred tax balances relate to the same taxation 
authority. Current tax assets and liabilities are offset where the 
entity has a legally enforceable right to offset and intends either 
to settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the 
liability simultaneously.

Current and deferred tax balances attributable to amounts 
recognised directly in other comprehensive income are also 
recognised directly in other comprehensive income.
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Notes to the financial statements
30 June 2010

1.	� Summary of significant accounting policies 
(continued)

(g)	 Leases

Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and 
rewards of ownership are retained by the lessor are classified 
as operating leases. Payments made under operating leases 
are charged to the income statement on a straight-line basis 
over the period of the lease.

Lease income from operating leases, where the Group is a 
lessor, is recognised in income on a straight-line basis over 
the lease term.

(h)	 Acquisition of assets and business combinations

The acquisition method of accounting is used to account for 
all business combinations, including business combinations 
involving entities or businesses under common control, 
regardless of whether equity instruments or other assets are 
acquired. The consideration transferred for the acquisition 
of a subsidiary comprises the fair values of the assets 
transferred, the liabilities incurred and the equity interests 
issued by the Group. The consideration transferred also 
includes the fair value of any contingent consideration 
arrangement and the fair value of any pre-existing equity 
interest in the subsidiary. Acquisition-related costs are 
expensed as incurred. Identifiable assets acquired and 
liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business 
combination are, with limited exceptions, measured 
initially at their fair values at the acquisition date. On an 
acquisition-by-acquisition basis, the Group recognises any 
non-controlling interest in the acquiree either at fair value 
or at the non-controlling interest’s proportionate share of the 
acquiree’s net identifiable assets.

The excess of the consideration transferred, the amount of any 
non-controlling interest in the acquiree and the acquisition-
date fair value of any previous equity interest in the acquiree 
over the fair value of the Group’s share of the net identifiable 
assets acquired is recorded as goodwill. If those amounts are 
less than the fair value of the net identifiable assets of the 
subsidiary acquired and the measurement of all amounts has 
been reviewed, the difference is recognised directly in profit 
or loss as a bargain purchase.

Where settlement of any part of cash consideration is deferred, 
the amounts payable in the future are discounted to their 
present value as at the date of exchange. The discount rate 
used is the entity’s incremental borrowing rate, being the 
rate at which a similar borrowing could be obtained from an 
independent financier under comparable terms and conditions.

Contingent consideration is classified either as equity or a 
financial liability. Amounts classified as a financial liability 
are subsequently remeasured to fair value with changes in 
fair value recognised in profit or loss.

	 Change in accounting policy

A revised AASB 3 Business Combinations became operative 
on 1 July 2009. While the revised standard continues to apply 
the acquisition method to business combinations, there have 
been some significant changes.

All purchase consideration is now recorded at fair value at 
the acquisition date. Contingent payments classified as debt 
are subsequently remeasured through profit or loss. Under 
the Group’s previous policy, contingent payments were only 
recognised when the payments were probable and could be 
measured reliably and were accounted for as an adjustment 
to the cost of acquisition.

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred. 
Previously, they were recognised as part of the cost of 
acquisition and therefore included in goodwill.

Non-controlling interests in an acquiree are now recognised 
either at fair value or at the non-controlling interest’s 
proportionate share of the acquiree’s net identifiable assets. 
This decision is made on an acquisition-by-acquisition 
basis. Under the previous policy, the non-controlling interest 
was always recognised at its share of the acquiree’s net 
identifiable assets.

If the Group recognises previous acquired deferred tax assets 
after the initial acquisition accounting is completed there will 
no longer be any adjustment to goodwill. As a consequence, 
the recognition of the deferred tax asset will increase the 
Group’s net profit after tax.

(i)	 Impairment of assets

Goodwill and intangible assets that have an indefinite useful 
life are not subject to amortisation and are tested annually 
for impairment, or more frequently if events or changes in 
circumstances indicate that they might be impaired. Other 
assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events or 
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount 
may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for 
the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its 
recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of 
an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use.

For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are 
grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately 
identifiable cash inflows which are largely independent of 
the cash inflows from other assets or groups of assets (cash 
generating units). Non-financial assets other than goodwill 
that suffered an impairment are reviewed for possible 
reversal of the impairment at each reporting date.

(j)	 Cash and cash equivalents

For cash flow statement presentation purposes, cash and 
cash equivalents includes cash on hand and deposits held at 
call with financial institutions.

(k)	 Trade receivables

Trade receivables are recognised initially at fair value and 
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective 
interest method, less provision for impairment. Trade 
receivables are generally due for settlement within 45 days.

Collectability of trade receivables is reviewed on an ongoing 
basis. Debts which are known to be uncollectible are written 
off by reducing the carrying amounts directly. A provision 
for impairment of trade receivables is used when there is 
objective evidence that the Group will not be able to collect all 
amounts due according to the original terms of receivables.



West 
Australian 

Newspapers 
Holdings 

Limited

Annual 
Report 

2010

43
Notes to the financial statements

30 June 2010

1.	� Summary of significant accounting policies 
(continued)

(k)	 Trade receivables (continued)

Significant financial difficulties of the debtor, probability that 
the debtor will enter bankruptcy or financial reorganisation, 
and default or delinquency in payments (more than 45 days 
overdue) are considered indicators that the trade receivable 
is impaired.  The amount of the provision is the difference 
between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value 
of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the original 
effective interest rate. Cash flows relating to short-term 
receivables are not discounted if the effect of discounting  
is immaterial.

The amount of the impairment loss is recognised in profit or 
loss in other expenses. When a trade receivable for which 
a provision for impairment had been recognised becomes 
uncollectible in a subsequent period, it is written off against 
the provision. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously 
written off are credited against other expenses in profit  
or loss.

(l)	 Inventories

Finished goods, raw materials and stores are stated at the 
lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost comprises direct 
materials and direct labour. Costs are assigned to individual 
items of inventory, generally on the basis of first-in first-
out. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in 
the ordinary course of business less the estimated costs 
of completion and the estimated costs necessary to make  
the sale.

(m)	 Discontinued operations

A discontinued operation is a component of the entity that 
has been disposed of or is classified as held for sale and that 
represents a separate major line of business or geographical 
area of operations, is part of a single co-ordinated plan to 
dispose of such a line of business or area of operations, or is 
a subsidiary acquired exclusively with a view to resale. The 
results of discontinued operations are presented separately 
on the face of the statement of comprehensive income.

(n)	 Investments and other financial assets

The Group classifies its financial assets in the following 
categories:

(i)	 Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets 
with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted 
in an active market. They arise when the Group provides 
money, goods or services directly to a debtor with no 
intention of selling the receivable. They are included in 
current assets, except for those with maturities greater 
than 12 months after the reporting period which are 
classified as non-current assets. Loans and receivables 
are included in receivables in the balance sheet. Loans 
and receivables are carried at amortised cost using the 
effective interest method.

(ii)	 Available-for-sale financial assets

Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivative 
assets and include investments in equity securities in 
which the Group does not have significant influence or 
control. They are included in non-current assets unless 
management intends to dispose of the investment within 
12 months of the end of the reporting period.

Regular purchases and sales of financial assets are 
recognised on trade-date - the date on which the Group 
commits to purchase or sell the asset. Financial assets, 
other than those at fair value through profit or loss, are 
initially recognised at fair value plus transaction costs. 
Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to 
receive cash flows from the financial assets have expired 
or have been transferred and the Group has transferred 
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership.

Available-for-sale financial assets are subsequently 
carried at fair value or cost if fair value cannot be 
reliably measured. Unrealised gains and losses arising 
from changes in their fair value are recognised in other 
comprehensive income.

When securities classified as available-for-sale are sold, 
the accumulated fair value adjustments recognised in 
other comprehensive income are included in profit or loss 
as gains and losses from investment securities.

The fair values of quoted investments are based on 
current bid prices. If the market for a financial asset is not 
active (and for unlisted securities), the Group establishes 
fair value by using valuation techniques. These include 
the use of recent arm’s length transactions, reference 
to other instruments that are substantially the same, 
discounted cash flow analysis, and option pricing models 
making maximum use of market inputs and relying as 
little as possible on entity-specific inputs.

The Group assesses at the end of each reporting period 
whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset or 
group of financial assets is impaired. In the case of equity 
securities classified as available-for-sale, a significant or 
prolonged decline in the fair value of a security below its 
cost is considered in determining whether the security 
is impaired. If any such evidence exists for available-for-
sale financial assets, the cumulative loss - measured as the 
difference between the acquisition cost and the current 
fair value, less any impairment loss on that financial asset 
previously recognised in profit or loss - is reclassified from 
other comprehensive income and recognised in profit or 
loss as a reclassification adjustment. Impairment losses 
recognised in profit or loss on equity instruments classified 
as available-for-sale are not reversed through profit or loss.

If there is evidence of impairment for any of the Group’s 
financial assets carried at amortised cost, the loss is measured 
as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and 
the present value of estimated future cash flows, excluding 
future credit losses that have not been incurred. The cash 
flows are discounted at the financial asset’s original effective 
interest rate. The loss is recognised in profit or loss.
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1.	� Summary of significant accounting policies 
(continued)

(o)	 Derivatives and hedging activities

The Group is party to derivative financial instruments on 
recognised liabilities in the normal course of business in 
order to hedge exposure to fluctuations in interest rates. 
These derivatives are designated as cash flow hedges.

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on the date 
a derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently 
remeasured to their fair value at the end of each reporting 
period. The Group documents at the inception of the 
transaction the relationship between hedging instruments 
and hedged items, as well as its risk management objective 
and strategy for undertaking various hedge transactions. 
The Group also documents its assessment, both at 
hedge inception and on an ongoing basis, of whether the 
derivatives that are used in hedging transactions have been 
and will continue to be highly effective in offsetting changes 
in cash flows of hedged items. The fair values of derivative 
financial instruments designated as cash flow hedges are 
disclosed in note 19. Movements in the hedging reserve in 
shareholders’ equity are shown in note 26(a). The full fair 
value of a hedging derivative is classified as a non-current 
asset or liability when the remaining maturity of the hedged 
item (i.e. cash flows) is more than 12 months; it is classified 
as a current asset or liability when the remaining maturity of 
the hedged item is less than 12 months.

The gain or loss from re-measuring the hedging instruments 
to fair value is recognised in other comprehensive income 
and accumulated in a hedging reserve, to the extent that 
the hedge is effective, and is recognised in profit or loss 
within finance costs when the hedged interest expense  
is recognised.

The gain or loss relating to the ineffective portion is 
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

When a hedging instrument expires or is sold or terminated, 
or when a hedge no longer meets the criteria for hedge 
accounting, any cumulative gain or loss existing in equity 
at that time remains in equity and is recognised when the 
forecast transaction is ultimately recognised in profit or loss. 
When a forecast transaction is no longer expected to occur, 
the cumulative gain or loss that was reported in equity is 
immediately reclassified to profit or loss.

(p)	 Financial guarantee contracts

Financial guarantee contracts are recognised as a financial 
liability at the time the guarantee is issued.  The liability is 
initially measured at fair value and subsequently at the higher 
of the amount determined in accordance with AASB 137 
Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets and 
the amount initially recognised less cumulative amortisation, 
where appropriate.

The fair value of financial guarantees is determined as the 
present value of the difference in net cash flows between 
the contractual payments under the debt instrument and the 
payments that would be required without the guarantee, or 

the estimated amount that would be payable to a third party 
for assuming the obligations.

(q)	 Property, plant and equipment

All property, plant and equipment is stated at historical 
cost to the Group less depreciation. Historical cost includes 
expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of 
the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount 
or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when 
it is probable that future economic benefits associated with 
the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can 
be measured reliably. The carrying amount of any component 
accounted for as a separate asset is derecognised when 
replaced. All other repairs and maintenance are charged 
to profit or loss during the reporting period in which they  
are incurred.

Land is not depreciated. Depreciation on other assets is 
calculated using the straight-line method to allocate their 
cost, net of their residual values, over their estimated useful 
lives, as follows:

Operational buildings	 40 years

Printing presses	 15 years

Publishing equipment	 15 years

Other plant and equipment	 5-10 years

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and 
adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each reporting period. 
An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately 
to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is 
greater than its estimated recoverable amount (note 1(i)). 
Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing 
proceeds with carrying amount. These are included in profit 
or loss.

(r)	 Intangible assets

(i)	 Goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of an 
acquisition over the fair value of the Group’s share of 
the net identifiable assets of the acquired subsidiary, 
associate or jointly controlled entity at the date of 
acquisition. Goodwill on acquisitions of subsidiaries is 
included in intangible assets. Goodwill on acquisitions 
of associates and jointly controlled entities is included in 
investments in associates and jointly controlled entities. 
Goodwill is not amortised. Instead, goodwill is tested 
for impairment annually, or more frequently if events 
or changes in circumstances indicate that it might 
be impaired, and is carried at cost less accumulated 
impairment losses. Gains and losses on the disposal of an 
entity include the carrying amount of goodwill relating to 
the entity sold.

Goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units for the 
purpose of impairment testing. The allocation is made to 
those cash-generating units or groups of cash-generating 
units that are expected to benefit from the business 
combination in which the goodwill arose, identified 
according to operating segments (note 4).



West 
Australian 

Newspapers 
Holdings 

Limited

Annual 
Report 

2010

45
Notes to the financial statements

30 June 2010

1.	� Summary of significant accounting policies 
(continued)

(r)	 Intangible assets (continued)

(ii)	 Newspaper mastheads and radio licenses

The newspaper mastheads and radio licences of the 
Group are considered by the directors to be identifiable 
intangible assets. The carrying amounts of these assets 
are not amortised as the directors have determined 
them to have indefinite useful lives. Instead, mastheads 
and radio licences are tested for impairment annually, 
or whenever there is an indication that they may be 
impaired - refer note 1(i). Mastheads and radio licences 
are carried at cost less accumulated impairment losses.

(iii)	Computer software

Costs incurred in developing products or systems 
and costs incurred in acquiring software and licences 
that will contribute to future period financial benefits 
through revenue generation and/or cost reduction are 
capitalised to software and systems. Costs capitalised 
include external direct costs of materials and service. 
Amortisation is calculated on a straight-line basis over 
periods generally ranging from 3 to 5 years.

(s)	 Trade and other payables

These amounts represent liabilities for goods and services 
provided to the Group prior to the end of financial year which 
are unpaid. The amounts are unsecured and are usually paid 
within 45 days of recognition.

(t)	 Borrowings

Borrowings are initially recognised at fair value, net of 
transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently 
measured at amortised cost. Any difference between the 
proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption 
amount is recognised in profit or loss over the period of the 
borrowings using the effective interest method.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the 
Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the 
liability for at least 12 months after the reporting period.

(u)	 Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs incurred for the construction of any 
qualifying asset are capitalised during the period of time that 
is required to complete and prepare the asset for its intended 
use. Other borrowing costs are expensed.

(v)	 Provisions

Provisions for libel and legal claims against the Group 
are recognised when it has a present legal or constructive 
obligation as a result of past events, it is probable that an 
outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation 
and the amount has been reliably estimated. Provisions are 
not recognised for future operating losses.

Provisions are measured at the present value of management’s 
best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the present 
obligation at the end of the reporting period. The discount 
rate used to determine the present value is a pre-tax rate 
that reflects current market assessments of the time value 

of money and the risks specific to the liability. The increase 
in the provision due to the passage of time is recognised as 
interest expense.

(w)	 Employee benefits

(i)	 Short-term obligations

Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-monetary 
benefits and annual leave expected to be settled within 
12 months after the end of the period in which the 
employees render the related service are recognised 
in respect of employees’ services up to the end of the 
reporting period and are measured at the amounts 
expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled. The 
liability for annual leave is recognised in trade payables 
and other accrued expenses. Sick leave is recognised in 
profit or loss when the leave is taken and measured at 
the rates paid.

(ii)	 Other long-term employee benefit obligations

The liability for long service leave which is not expected 
to be settled within 12 months after the end of the 
period in which the employees render the related service 
is recognised in the provision for employee benefits 
and measured as the present value of expected future 
payments to be made in respect of services provided by 
employees up to the end of the reporting period using 
the projected unit credit method. Consideration is given 
to expected future wage and salary levels, experience of 
employee departures and periods of service. Expected 
future payments are discounted using market yields at 
the end of the reporting period on national government 
bonds with terms to maturity and currency that match, as 
closely as possible, the estimated future cash outflows.

(iii)	Share-based payments

Share-based compensation benefits are provided 
to executives and employees in accordance with 
the Company’s share purchase and loan plans and 
employment agreements. Information relating to these 
plans is set out in note 38. 

The fair value of the rights granted is recognised as an 
employee benefits expense with a corresponding increase 
in equity. The total amount to be expensed is determined 
by reference to the fair value of the rights granted, which 
includes any market performance conditions but excludes 
the impact of any service and non-market performance 
vesting conditions and the impact of any non-vesting 
conditions.

Non-market vesting conditions are included in 
assumptions about the number of rights that are 
expected to vest. The total expense is recognised over 
the vesting period, which is the period over which all of 
the specified vesting conditions are to be satisfied. At 
the end of each period, the entity revises its estimate of 
the number of rights that are expected to vest based on 
the non-marketing vesting conditions. It recognises the 
impact of the revision to original estimates, if any, in 
profit or loss, with a corresponding adjustment to equity.
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1.	� Summary of significant accounting policies 
(continued)

(w)	 Employee benefits (continued)

(iv)	Short term incentives and bonus plans

A liability for employee benefits in the form of short 
term incentives and bonus plans is recognised in trade 
payables and other accrued expenses when there is no 
realistic alternative but to settle the liability and at least 
one of the following conditions is met:

	 -	� there are formal terms in the plan for determining 
the amount of the benefit

	 -	� the amounts to be paid are determined before the 
time of completion of the financial report, or

	 -	� past practice gives clear evidence of the amount of 
the obligation.

Liabilities for short term incentives and bonus plans 
are expected to be settled within 12 months and are 
measured at the amounts expected to be paid when they 
are settled.

(v)	 Termination benefits

Termination benefits are payable when employment is 
terminated before the normal retirement date, or when an 
employee accepts voluntary redundancy in exchange for 
these benefits. The Group recognises termination benefits 
when it is demonstrably committed to either terminating 
the employment of current employees according to a 
detailed formal plan without possibility of withdrawal 
or providing termination benefits as a result of an offer 
made to encourage voluntary redundancy. Benefits falling 
due more then 12 months after the end of the reporting 
period are discounted to present value.

(vi)	Superannuation

Contributions made by the Company to defined 
contribution employee superannuation funds are charged 
to profit or loss in the period employees’ services  
are provided.

(x)	 Contributed equity

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs 
directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options 
are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from  
the proceeds.

(y)	 Dividends

Provision is made for the amount of any dividend declared, 
being appropriately authorised and no longer at the discretion 
of the entity, on or before the end of the reporting period but 
not distributed at the end of the reporting period.

(z)	 Earnings per share

(i)	 Basic earnings per share

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the 
profit attributable to equity holders of the Company 
by the weighted average number of ordinary shares 
outstanding during the financial year.

(ii)	 Diluted earnings per share

Diluted earnings per share adjusts the figures used in the 

determination of basic earnings per share to take into 

account the after income tax effect of interest and other 

financing costs associated with dilutive potential ordinary 

shares and the weighted average number of additional 

ordinary shares that would have been outstanding 

assuming the conversion of all dilutive potential  

ordinary shares.

(aa)	 Goods and services tax (GST)

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the 

amount of associated GST, unless the GST incurred is not 

recoverable from the taxation authority. In this case it is 

recognised as part of the cost of the acquisition of the asset 

or as part of the expense.

Receivables and payables are stated inclusive of the amount of 

GST receivable or payable. The net amount of GST recoverable 

from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included with 

other receivables or payables in the balance sheet.

Cash flows are presented on a gross basis. The GST 

components of cash flows arising from investing or financing 

activities which are recoverable from, or payable to, the 

taxation authority, are presented as operating cash flows.

(ab)	 Rounding of amounts

The Company is of a kind referred to in Class Order 98/100, 

issued by the Australian Securities and Investments 

Commission, relating to the “rounding off” of amounts in the 

financial statements. Amounts in the financial statements 

have been rounded off in accordance with that Class Order 

to the nearest thousand dollars, or in certain cases, the 

nearest dollar.

(ac)	 New accounting standards and interpretations

Certain new accounting standards and interpretations have 

been published that are not mandatory for 30 June 2010 

reporting periods. The Group’s assessment of the impact of 

these new standards and interpretations is set out below.

(i)	� AASB 2009-8 Amendments to Australian Accounting 

Standards – Group Cash-Settled Share-based Payment 

Transactions [AASB 2] (effective from 1 January 2010)

The amendments made by the AASB to AASB 2 confirm 

that an entity receiving goods or services in a group 

share-based payment arrangement must recognise an 

expense for those goods or services regardless of which 

entity in the group settles the transaction or whether 

the transaction is settled in shares or cash. They also 

clarify how the group share-based payment arrangement 

should be measured, that is, whether it is measured as 

an equity or a cash-settled transaction. The Group will 

apply these amendments retrospectively for the financial 

reporting period commencing on 1 July 2010. There will 

be no impact on the Group’s financial statements.
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1.	� Summary of significant accounting policies 
(continued) 

(ac)	� New accounting standards and interpretations 
(continued)

(ii)	� AASB 2009-10 Amendments to Australian Accounting 
Standards – Classification of Rights Issues [AASB 132] 
(effective from 1 February 2010)

In October 2009 the AASB issued an amendment to 
AASB 132 Financial Instruments: Presentation which 
addresses the accounting for rights issues that are 
denominated in a currency other than the functional 
currency of the issuer. Provided certain conditions are 
met, such rights issues are now classified as equity 
regardless of the currency in which the exercise price 
is denominated. Previously, these issues had to be 
accounted for as derivative liabilities. The amendment 
must be applied retrospectively in accordance with 
AASB 108 Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting 
Estimates and Errors. The Group will apply the amended 
standard from 1 July 2010. As the Group has not made 
any such rights issues, the amendment will not have any 
effect on the Group’s financial statements.

(iii)	�AASB 9 Financial Instruments and AASB 2009-11 
Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising 
from AASB 9 (effective from 1 January 2013)

AASB 9 Financial Instruments addresses the 
classification and measurement of financial assets and 
only permits the recognition of fair value gains and 
losses in other comprehensive income if they relate to 
equity investments that are not held for trading. The 
future impact of this amendment is yet to be assessed. 
The standard is not applicable until 1 January 2013 but is 
available for early adoption.

(iv)	�AASB Interpretation 19 Extinguishing financial liabilities 
with equity instruments and AASB 2009-13 Amendments 
to Australian Accounting Standards arising from 
Interpretation 19 (effective from 1 July 2010)

AASB Interpretation 19 clarifies the accounting when an 
entity renegotiates the terms of its debt with the result 
that the liability is extinguished by the debtor issuing its 
own equity instruments to the creditor (debt for equity 
swap). It requires a gain or loss to be recognised in profit 
or loss which is measured as the difference between 
the carrying amount of the financial liability and the 
fair value of the equity instruments issued. The Group 
will apply the interpretation from 1 July 2010. It is not 
expected to have any impact on the Group’s financial 
statements since it is only retrospectively applied from 
the beginning of the earliest period presented (1 July 
2009) and the Group has not entered into any debt for 
equity swaps since that date.

(v)	� AASB 2009-14 Amendments to Australian Interpretation 
– Prepayments of a Minimum Funding Requirement 
(effective from 1 January 2011)

In December 2009, the AASB made an amendment to 
Interpretation 14 The Limit on a Defined Benefit Asset, 

Minimum Funding Requirements and their Interaction. 
The amendment removes an unintended consequence 
of the interpretation related to voluntary prepayments 
when there is a minimum funding requirement in regard 
to the entity’s defined benefit scheme. It permits entities 
to recognise an asset for a prepayment of contributions 
made to cover minimum funding requirements. The 
Group does not make any such prepayments. The 
amendment is therefore not expected to have any impact 
on the Group’s financial statements. The Group intends 
to apply the amendment from 1 July 2011, should it 
become party to a defined benefit scheme.

(vi)	�AASB 2009-5 Further Amendments to Australian 
Accounting Standards arising from the Annual 
Improvements Project (effective for annual periods 
beginning on or after 1 January 2010)

In May 2009, the AASB issued a number of improvements 
to existing Australian Accounting Standards Standards. 
The Group will apply the revised standards from 1 July 
2010. The Group does not expect that any adjustments will 
be necessary as the result of applying the revised rules.

(vii)	� AASB 1053 Application of Tiers of Australian Accounting 
Standards and AASB 2010-2 Amendments to Australian 
Accounting Standards arising from Reduced Disclosure 
Requirements (effective 1 July 2013)

On 30 June 2010 the AASB officially introduced a revised 
differential reporting framework in Australia. Under this 
framework, a two-tier differential reporting regime applies 
to all entities that prepare general purpose financial 
statements. West Australian Newspapers Holdings 
Limited is listed on the ASX and is therefore not eligible 
to adopt the new Australian Accounting Standards – 
Reduced Disclosure Requirements. As a consequence, 
the two standards will have no impact on the financial 
statements of the entity.

(viii)	� AASB 2010-3 Amendments to Australian Accounting 
Standards arising from the Annual Improvements Project 
and AASB 2010-4 Further Amendments to Australian 
Accounting Standards arising from the Annual 
Improvements Project (effective for annual periods 
beginning on or after 1 July 2010/1 January 2011)

In June 2010, the AASB made a number of amendments 
to Australian Accounting Standards as a result of the 
IASB’s annual improvements project. The Group will 
apply the amendments from 1 July 2010. The Group does 
not expect that any adjustments will be necessary as the 
result of applying the revised rules.
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1.	� Summary of significant accounting policies 
(continued)

(ad)	 Parent entity financial information

The financial information for the Parent Entity, West 
Australian Newspapers Holdings Limited, disclosed in note 
40 has been prepared on the same basis as the consolidated 
financial statements, except as set out below.

(i)	 Investments in subsidiaries and associates

Investments in subsidiaries and associates are accounted 
for at cost in the financial statements of West Australian 
Newspapers Holdings Limited. Dividends received from 
associates are recognised in the Parent Entity’s profit 
or loss, rather than being deducted from the carrying 
amount of these investments.

	 Change in accounting policy

The Group has changed its accounting policy for 
dividends paid out of pre-acquisition profits from 1 
July 2009 when the revised AASB 127 Consolidated 
and Separate Financial Statements became operative. 
Previously, dividends paid out of pre-acquisition profits 
were deducted from the cost of the investment. In 
accordance with the transitional provisions, the new 
accounting policy is applied prospectively. It was 
therefore not necessary to make any adjustments to any 
of the amounts previously recognised in the financial 
statements.

(ii)	 Tax consolidated legislation

West Australian Newspapers Holdings Limited and 
its wholly-owned Australian controlled entities have 
implemented the tax consolidated legislation.

The head entity, West Australian Newspapers 
Holdings Limited, and the controlled entities in the tax 
consolidated group account for their own current and 
deferred tax amounts. These tax amounts are measured 
as if each entity in the tax consolidated group continues 
to be a stand alone taxpayer in its own right.

In addition to its own current and deferred tax amounts, 
West Australian Newspapers Holdings Limited also 
recognises the current tax liabilities (or assets) and the 
deferred tax assets arising from unused tax losses and 
unused tax credits assumed from controlled entities in 
the tax consolidated group.

The entities have also entered into a tax funding 
agreement under which the wholly-owned entities fully 
compensate West Australian Newspapers Holdings 
Limited for any current tax payable assumed and are 
compensated by West Australian Newspapers Holdings 
Limited for any current tax receivable and deferred tax 
assets relating to unused tax losses or unused tax credits 
that are transferred to West Australian Newspapers 
Holdings Limited under the tax consolidation legislation. 
The funding amounts are determined by reference to 
the amounts recognised in the wholly-owned entities’ 
financial statements.

The amounts receivable/payable under the tax funding 

agreement are due upon receipt of the funding 

advice from the head entity, which is issued as soon 

as practicable after the end of each financial year. 

The head entity may also require payment of interim 

funding amounts to assist with its obligations to pay  

tax instalments.

Assets or liabilities arising under tax funding agreements 

with the tax consolidated entities are recognised as 

current amounts receivable from or payable to other 

entities in the Group.

Any difference between the amounts assumed and 

amounts receivable or payable under the tax funding 

agreement are recognised as a contribution to (or 

distribution from) wholly-owned tax consolidated entities.

(iii)	Financial guarantees

Where the Parent Entity has provided financial guarantees 

in relation to loans and payables of subsidiaries for no 

compensation, the fair values of these guarantees are 

accounted for as contributions and recognised as part of 

the cost of the investment.

2.	 Financial risk management

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: 

market risk (including interest rate risk), credit risk and 

liquidity risk. The Group’s overall risk management program 

focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and 

seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the financial 

performance of the Group. The Group uses derivative 

financial instruments (interest rate swaps) to hedge certain 

interest rate risk exposures. Derivatives are exclusively used 

for hedging purposes, i.e. not as trading or other speculative 

instruments. The Group uses different methods to measure 

different types of risk to which it is exposed. These methods 

include sensitivity analysis in the case of interest rate and 

aging analysis for credit risk.

Risk management is carried out by the finance department 

under policies approved by the board of directors.  

The policies provide principles for overall risk management, 

as well as policies covering specific areas such as interest 

rate risk.

(a)	 Market risk

(i)	 Foreign exchange risk

The Group is not exposed to significant foreign exchange 

risk as all significant financial assets and liabilities are 

denominated in Australian currency.

(ii)	 Price risk

The Group is not exposed to significant price risk.

(iii)	Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk

The Group’s main interest rate risk arises from long-term 

borrowings. Borrowings issued at variable rates expose 

the Group to cash flow interest rate risk.
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2.	 Financial risk management 

(a)	 Market risk (continued)

(iii)	Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk (continued)

The Group has mitigated this interest rate risk by entering into an interest rate swap contract, which expires on 16 August 2013. 
The value of cover provided by the contract reduces on a quarterly basis, so as to maintain the level of cover at approximately 
55% of the forecast debt.

Group policy is to maintain between 50% and 70% of its core net long-term borrowings at fixed rate using interest rate swaps 
to achieve this.

As at the end of the reporting period, the Group had the following variable rate borrowings and interest rate swap  
contracts outstanding:

30 June 2010 30 June 2009

Weighted 
average 

interest rate Balance

Weighted 
average 

interest rate Balance

% $’000 % $’000

Bills payable 5.78% 261,000 3.91% 318,000

Interest rate swaps (notional principal amount) 6.99% (150,000) 6.40% (200,000)

Net exposure to cash flow interest rate risk 111,000 118,000

An analysis by maturities is provided in (c) below.

	 Group sensitivity

Based on the Group outstanding floating borrowings at 30 June 2010, a change in interest rates at year end of +/- 1% per 
annum with all other variables remaining constant would impact after tax profit by $777,000 lower/higher (2009 – $826,000 
lower/higher).

Based on the Group outstanding interest rate swaps at 30 June 2010, a change in interest rates at year end of +/- 1% per 
annum with all other variables remaining constant would impact other components of equity by $1,050,000 higher/lower  
(2009 – $1,231,000 higher/lower).

(b)	 Credit risk

Credit risk is managed on a group basis. Credit risk arises from cash and cash equivalents, derivative financial instruments and 
deposits with banks, as well as credit exposures to customers. The Group limits its exposure in relation to cash balances and 
derivative financial instruments by only dealing with well established financial institutions of high quality credit standing. For other 
customers, risk control assesses the credit quality, taking into account financial position, past experience and other factors. The 
utilisation of credit limits is regularly monitored.

For further information on credit risk refer to note 11.

(c)	 Liquidity risk

Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining sufficient cash and the availability of funding through an adequate amount 
of committed credit facilities. The Group manages liquidity risk by continuously monitoring forecast and actual cash flow and 
monitoring the Group’s liquidity reserve on the basis of these cash flow forecasts.

Financing arrangements

Refer note 22(a) for details of the Group’s financing arrangements.

Maturities of financial liabilities

Bills payable are drawn under various bill facilities totalling $280,000,000 (2009 – $380,000,000) which have an average maturity of 
2.4 years from 30 June 2010 (2009 – 1.4 years from 30 June 2009).
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2.	 Financial risk management (continued)

(c)	 Liquidity risk (continued)

The table below analyses the Group’s financial liabilities including interest to maturity into relevant groupings based on their 
contractual maturities.

The amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual undiscounted cash flows. Balances due within 12 months equal their 
carrying amounts as the impact of discounting is not significant. For interest rate swaps the cash flows have been estimated using 
forward interest rates applicable at the end of the reporting period.

Less than  
one year

Between  
1 and 2 years

Between 
2 and 5 years

Total 
contractual 
cash flows

Carrying 
amount - 
liabilities

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

At 30 June 2010

Non-derivatives

	 Trade and other payables 23,940 - - 23,940 23,940

	 Borrowings 15,083 143,742 138,323 297,148 261,000

Total non-derivatives 39,023 143,742 138,323 321,088 284,940

Derivatives – Net settled interest rate swaps 1,388 1,183 793 3,364 804

At 30 June 2009

Non-derivatives

	 Trade and other payables 25,685 - - 25,685 25,685

	 Borrowings 12,391 324,404 - 336,795 318,000

Total non-derivatives 38,076 324,404 - 362,480 343,685

Derivatives – Net settled interest rate swaps 4,417 - - 4,417 4,137

(d)	 Fair value measurement

The fair value of financial assets and liabilities must be estimated for recognition and measurement or for disclosure purposes.

As of 1 July 2009, the Group has adopted the amendment to AASB 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures which requires disclosure 
of fair value measurements by level of the following fair value measurement hierarchy:

(a)	 quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities (level 1)

(b)	 inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (as prices) or 
indirectly (derived from prices) (level 2), and

(c)	 inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs) (level 3).

The only asset or liability measured and recognised at fair value is the liability recognised in relation to interest rate cash flow 
hedges amounting to $804,000 (2009 – $4,137,000). The fair values of these hedges (classified as level 2 in the fair value measurement 
hierarchy) are measured with reference to forward interest rates and the present value of the estimated future cash flows.

3.	 Critical accounting estimates
Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors, including expectations 
of future events that may have a financial impact on the Group and that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition, seldom 
equal the related actual results. The estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the 
carrying amounts of assets within the next financial year are discussed below.

The Group tests annually whether mastheads, radio licences and goodwill have suffered any impairment in accordance with the 
accounting policy stated in note 1(i). The recoverable amounts of cash-generating units have been determined based on value-in-
use calculations. These calculations require the use of assumptions. Refer to note 17 for details of these assumptions.

The Group also tests other assets for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount 
may not be recoverable.
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4.	 Segment information

(a)	 Description of segments

Management has determined the operating segments based on the internal reports reviewed by the chief operating decision 
makers that are used to make strategic decisions. The chief operating decision makers consist of the chief executive officer, the 
chief financial officer and other relevant members of the executive team.

The chief operating decision makers consider the business from both a product and a geographical perspective and have identified 
the following reportable segments:

-	 The West Australian (The West Australian newspaper and insert magazines)

-	 Regionals (the Countryman and other newspapers published in regional areas of Western Australia)

-	 Quokka (a weekly classified advertising publication)

-	 Radio (radio stations broadcasting in regional areas of Western Australia)

Other operating segments are included in the ‘all other segments’ column encompassing Community Newspapers, ColourPress 
(commercial printing operation), digital publishing, West Australian Publishers and other minor operating segments.

(b)	 Segment information provided to the chief operating decision makers

The segment information provided to the chief operating decision makers for the reportable segments for year ended 30 June 2010 
is as follows:

The West 

Australian Regionals Quokka Radio

All other 

segments

Un- 

allocated Total

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

2010

Total segment revenue 322,912 45,795 12,016 8,578 43,915 - 433,216

Inter-segment revenue - - - - (24,525) - (24,525)

Revenue from external customers 322,912 45,795 12,016 8,578 19,390 - 408,691

Interest received - - - - - 483 483

Revenue from continuing operations 322,912 45,795 12,016 8,578 19,390 483 409,174

Adjusted earnings before interest, tax, 
depreciation and amortisation (EBITDA) 150,003 12,708 4,669 3,014 6,190 (4,885) 171,699

Depreciation and amortisation (18,241) (881) (72) (303) (1,435) - (20,932)

Adjusted earnings before interest and 
tax (EBIT) 131,762 11,827 4,597 2,711 4,755 (4,885) 150,767

Share of profit from associate - - - - 3,869 - 3,869

Total segment assets 351,546 29,313 18,165 23,220 18,201 845 441,290

Total assets includes investment in associate - - - - 11,228 - 11,228

Additions to non-current assets (other than 
financial assets and deferred tax) 12,124 599 66 1,838 19 - 14,646
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4.	 Segment information (continued)

(b)	 Segment information provided to the chief operating decision makers (continued)

The West 

Australian Regionals Quokka Radio

All other 

segments

Un- 

allocated Total

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

2009

Total segment revenue 333,745 45,881 11,626 8,292 41,447 - 440,991

Inter-segment revenue - - - - (22,961) - (22,961)

Revenue from external customers 333,745 45,881 11,626 8,292 18,486 - 418,030

Interest received - - - - - 589 589

Revenue from continuing operations 333,745 45,881 11,626 8,292 18,486 589 418,619

Adjusted earnings before interest, tax, 
depreciation and amortisation (EBITDA) 160,599 12,338 4,415 2,899 1,298 (6,132) 175,417

Depreciation and amortisation (18,033) (1,053) (102) (369) (972) - (20,529)

Adjusted earnings before interest and 
tax (EBIT) 142,566 11,285 4,313 2,530 326 (6,132) 154,888

Share of profit from associate - - - - 4,277 - 4,277

Total segment assets 358,156 29,634 18,333 21,765 18,803 865 447,556

Total assets includes investment in associate - - - - 11,609 - 11,609

Additions to non-current assets (other than 
financial assets and deferred tax) 8,485 386 383 244 1,063 - 10,561

Revenues from different products and services, all of which are provided in Australia, are disclosed in note 5.

The chief operating decision makers assess the performance of the operating segments based on a measure of adjusted earnings 
before interest and tax (EBIT). This measurement basis excludes the effects of non-recurring expenditure from the operating 
segments such as restructuring costs. Interest income and expenditure are also not allocated to segments.

A reconciliation of adjusted EBIT to profit before income tax is provided as follows:

Consolidated

2010 2009

$’000 $’000

Adjusted earnings before interest and tax (EBIT) 150,767 154,888

Interest revenue 483 589

Interest paid (17,141) (19,315)

Restructuring costs - (14,067)

Profit before income tax 134,109 122,095
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Consolidated

2010 2009

$’000 $’000

5.	 Revenue from operations
	 Sales revenue

Advertising 303,825 311,952

Circulation 76,544 81,310

Commercial printing 12,634 9,502

Rendering of services 11,466 10,070

Other 3,721 4,727

408,190 417,561

	 Other revenue

Interest 483 589

Rents 501 469

984 1,058

Revenue (excluding share of equity accounted net profit of associate) 409,174 418,619

6.	 Other income
Net gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment and computer software 468 40

7.	 Expenses
Profit before income tax includes the following specific expenses:

	 Depreciation and amortisation

Buildings 1,781 1,798

Plant and equipment 16,265 16,502

Computer software 2,886 2,229

Total depreciation and amortisation 20,932 20,529

	 Finance costs

Interest and finance charges paid/payable 19,938 21,011

	 Rental expense relating to operating leases 1,323 1,357

	 Defined contribution superannuation expense 7,668 7,891

8.	 Noteworthy items
Profit before income tax expense includes the following specific expenses whose disclosure is 
relevant in explaining the financial performance of the Group:

Restructuring costs

Personnel costs including employee redundancy provisions and payments - (13,672)

Other - (395)

- (14,067)
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Consolidated

2010 2009

$’000 $’000

9.	 Income tax expense
(a)	 Income tax expense

Current tax (33,302) (37,411)

Deferred tax (5,936) 1,724

Adjustments for current tax of prior periods 1,352 836

Aggregate income tax expense (37,886) (34,851)

	 Deferred income tax expense/(revenue) included in income tax expense comprises:

Decrease/(increase) in deferred tax assets (note 16) 4,279 (3,833)

Increase in deferred tax liabilities (note 23) 1,657 2,109

5,936 (1,724)

(b)	 Numerical reconciliation of income tax expense to prima facie tax payable

Profit before income tax expense 134,109 122,095

Tax at the Australian tax rate of 30% (2009 – 30%) (40,233) (36,629)

Tax effect of amounts which are not (deductible)/taxable in calculating taxable income:

Building construction and investment allowances 736 683

Non-deductible depreciation and amortisation (516) (521)

Non-deductible expenses (545) (503)

Share of net profit of associate 1,161 1,283

(39,397) (35,687)

Adjustments for current tax of prior periods 1,352 836

Previously unrecognised tax losses now recouped to reduce current tax expense 159 -

Income tax expense (37,886) (34,851)

(c)	 Tax expense/(income) relating to items of other comprehensive income

Interest rate hedges (note 26(a)) 1,000 (4,011)

(d)	 Tax losses

Unused capital tax losses for which no deferred tax asset has been recognised 77,827 73,314

Potential tax benefit @ 30% (2009 – 30%) 23,348 21,994

All unused capital tax losses were incurred by Australian entities.

10.	 Current assets – Cash and cash equivalents
Cash at bank, on hand and at call 12,065 14,982

Cash at bank and deposits at call bear interest at a floating rate which was 4.00% at the reporting 
date (2009 – 2.50%). The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date is the carrying 
amount. The exposure to interest rate risk is discussed in note 2.
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Consolidated

2010 2009

$’000 $’000

11.	 Current assets – Trade and other receivables
Trade receivables 54,670 52,051

Provision for impairment of receivables (a) (218) (196)

54,452 51,855

Prepayments 3,253 1,737

57,705 53,592

Trade receivables are generally settled within 45 days.

(a)	 Impaired trade receivables

As at 30 June 2010 current trade receivables of the Group with a nominal value of $220,000 (2009 
– $265,000) were impaired. The amount of the provision was $218,000 (2009 – $196,000). It was 
assessed that a portion of the receivables is expected to be recovered.

The ageing of these Group receivables is as follows:

Less than six months 111 124

Over six months 109 141

220 265

Movements in the provision for impairment of receivables are as follows:

Balance at the beginning of the financial year 196 267

Provision for impairment recognised during the year 1,044 471

Receivables written off (1,022) (542)

Balance at the end of the financial year 218 196

The other classes within trade and other receivables for the Group do not contain impaired assets 
and are not past due and are expected to be fully recovered.

(b)	 Past due but not impaired

As at 30 June 2010, the Group had trade receivables of $5,682,000 (2009 – $6,149,000) past due 
but not impaired. These relate to customers for whom there is no recent history of default.

The ageing analysis of these trade receivables is as follows:

Up to 3 months 5,599 6,047

3 to 6 months 83 102

5,682 6,149

The value of trade receivables as at 30 June 2010 that are neither past due nor impaired is 
$48,768,000 (2009 – $45,637,000).

(c)	 Interest rate risk

The Group’s current receivables do not bear interest.
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Consolidated

2010 2009

$’000 $’000

11.	 Current assets – Trade and other receivables (continued)

(d)	 Fair value and credit risk

Due to the short-term nature of these receivables, their carrying amount is assumed to approximate 
their fair value.

There is limited concentration of credit risk with respect to current receivables. The maximum 
exposure to credit risk at reporting date is the carrying amount of the assets. The fair  
value of security collateral held is insignificant. Refer to note 2 for further information on the risk 
management policy of the Group.

12.	 Current assets – Inventories
Newsprint – at cost 8,805 9,127

Other raw materials and stores – at net realisable value 4,229 2,982

Finished goods – at cost 89 161

13,123 12,270

	 Inventory expense

Inventories recognised as expense during the year ended 30 June 2010 amounted to $65,741,000 
(2009 – $64,766,000).

13.	 Non-current assets – Investments accounted for using the equity method
Shares in associated company 11,228 11,609

Refer note 35 for details of investments accounted for using the equity method.

14.	 Non-current assets – Available-for-sale financial assets
Unlisted equity securities 777 777

The investment in unlisted securities is stated at cost because its fair value cannot be reliably 
measured.

15.	 Non-current assets – Property, plant and equipment

Freehold  
land

Freehold 
buildings

Residential 
properties

Plant and 
equipment Total

	 Consolidated $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

	 At 1 July 2008

Cost 13,382 72,691 1,857 259,123 347,053

Accumulated depreciation - (18,121) - (91,846) (109,967)

Net book amount 13,382 54,570 1,857 167,277 237,086

	 Year ended 30 June 2009

Opening net book amount 13,382 54,570 1,857 167,277 237,086

Additions - 14 - 5,821 5,835

Disposals - - - (318) (318)

Depreciation charge - (1,798) - (16,502) (18,300)

Closing net book amount 13,382 52,786 1,857 156,278 224,303
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15.	 Non-current assets – Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Freehold  
land

Freehold 
buildings

Residential 
properties

Plant and 
equipment Total

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

	 At 30 June 2009

Cost 13,382 72,705 1,857 253,999 341,943

Accumulated depreciation - (19,919) - (97,721) (117,640)

Net book amount 13,382 52,786 1,857 156,278 224,303

	 Year ended 30 June 2010

Opening net book amount 13,382 52,786 1,857 156,278 224,303

Additions - 170 1,254 7,484 8,908

Disposals - - (171) (450) (621)

Transfer to inventory - - - (1,021) (1,021)

Depreciation charge - (1,781) - (16,265) (18,046)

Closing net book amount 13,382 51,175 2,940 146,026 213,523

	 At 30 June 2010

Cost 13,382 72,875 2,940 248,718 337,915

Accumulated depreciation - (21,700) - (102,692) (124,392)

Net book amount 13,382 51,175 2,940 146,026 213,523

Consolidated

2010 2009

$’000 $’000

16.	 Non-current assets – Deferred tax assets
The balance comprises temporary differences attributable to:

Deferred revenue 470 190

Employee benefits 3,283 3,443

Provisions 1,308 5,714

Cash flow hedges 241 1,241

Other 88 81

5,390 10,669

Set-off against deferred tax liabilities pursuant to set-off provisions (note 23) (5,390) (10,669)

Net deferred tax assets - -

Deferred tax assets to be recovered after more than 12 months 522 356

Deferred tax assets to be recovered within 12 months 4,868 10,313

5,390 10,669
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16.	 Non-current assets – Deferred tax assets (continued)

Deferred 
revenue

Employee 
benefits Provisions

Cash flow 
hedges Other Total

	 Movements - Consolidated $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

At 1 July 2008 111 3,386 2,031 - 67 5,595

Credited/(charged)

- to profit or loss (note 9(a)) 79 57 3,683 - 14 3,833

- to other comprehensive income - - - 1,241 - 1,241

At 30 June 2009 190 3,443 5,714 1,241 81 10,669

Credited/(charged)

- to profit or loss (note 9(a)) 280 (160) (4,406) - 7 (4,279)

- to other comprehensive income - - - (1,000) - (1,000)

At 30 June 2010 470 3,283 1,308 241 88 5,390

17.	 Non-current assets – Intangible assets

	 Mastheads
Radio  

licences Goodwill
Computer 

software Total

	 Consolidated $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

	 At 1 July 2008

Cost 100,558 17,316 2,484 13,172 133,530

Accumulated amortisation - - - (5,998) (5,998)

Net book amount 100,558 17,316 2,484 7,174 127,532

	 Year ended 30 June 2009

Opening net book amount 100,558 17,316 2,484 7,174 127,532

Additions - - - 4,726 4,726

Disposals - - - (6) (6)

Amortisation charge * - - - (2,229) (2,229)

Closing net book amount 100,558 17,316 2,484 9,665 130,023

	 At 30 June 2009

Cost 100,558 17,316 2,484 17,794 138,152

Accumulated amortisation - - - (8,129) (8,129)

Net book amount 100,558 17,316 2,484 9,665 130,023
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17.	 Non-current assets – Intangible assets (continued)

	 Mastheads
Radio  

licences Goodwill
Computer 

software Total

	 Consolidated $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

	 Year ended 30 June 2010

Opening net book amount 100,558 17,316 2,484 9,665 130,023

Additions - - - 5,738 5,738

Disposals - - - (6) (6)

Amortisation charge * - - - (2,886) (2,886)

Closing net book amount 100,558 17,316 2,484 12,511 132,869

	 At 30 June 2010

Cost 100,558 17,316 2,484 23,482 143,840

Accumulated amortisation - - - (10,971) (10,971)

Net book amount 100,558 17,316 2,484 12,511 132,869

*	 Amortisation of $2,886,000 (2009 - $2,229,000) is included in depreciation and amortisation expense in profit or loss.

	 Impairment of cash generating units (CGU) including goodwill and indefinite life assets

The recoverable amount of each CGU which includes goodwill or indefinite life intangibles has been reviewed. Where goodwill 
or other intangible assets represent a significant component of the Group total, value in use calculations have been performed. 
The CGU is determined at a masthead title or individual radio business level and the assumptions used are consistent for  
each CGU.

Where value in use calculations have been used, these calculations have been based on management budgets and forecasts 
for a five year period extrapolated at estimated growth rates between 3.0% and 6.0%, being rates no higher than the long term 
average growth rates for the CGU. A discount rate of 9.55% (weighted average cost of capital) (2009 – 9.81%) has been used. 
Reasonably possible changes in key assumptions would not result in a material shortfall of recoverable amounts of any cash 
generating units.

No impairment losses for intangibles have been incurred or reversed during the period.

Consolidated

2010 2009

$’000 $’000

18.	 Current liabilities – Trade and other payables

Trade payables and other accrued expenses 23,940 25,685

Trade and other payables are generally settled within 45 days from the end of the month in which they are incurred and are non-
interest bearing.

The balance of trade payables and other accrued expenses above includes an annual leave accrual of $7,283,000 (2009 – $7,364,000), 
all of which is expected to be settled within 12 months of the reporting date.
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Consolidated

2010 2009

$’000 $’000

19.	 Derivative financial instruments
	 Current liabilities

Interest rate swap contracts – cash flow hedges 257 4,137

	 Non-current liabilities

Interest rate swap contracts – cash flow hedges 547 -

804 4,137

(a)	 Interest rate swap contracts - cash flow hedges

The Group is party to derivative financial instruments in the normal course of business in order to hedge exposure to fluctuations 
in interest rates (refer note 2).

Of the Group’s total debt at 30 June 2010 of $261,000,000 (2009 – $318,000,000), $150,000,000 (2009 – $200,000,000) is covered by 
interest rate swaps, which fix the rate at 6.99% (including bank margins) (2009 - 6.40%).

The Group has entered into an interest rate swap contract, which expires on 16 August 2013. The value of cover provided by the 
contract reduces on a quarterly basis, so as to maintain the level of cover at approximately 55% of the forecast debt.

The contracts require settlement on net interest receivable or payable each 90 days. The settlement dates coincide with the dates 
on which interest is payable on the underlying debt. The contracts are settled on a net basis.

The gain or loss from remeasuring the hedging instruments at fair value is recognised in other comprehensive income and 
accumulated in equity to the extent that the hedge is effective, and reclassified to profit or loss when the hedged interest expense 
is recognised. The ineffective portion, if any, is recognised in profit or loss immediately. The fair value of interest rate swaps is 
calculated at the present value of the estimated future cash flows. All hedges were effective during the current and previous 
financial years.

At the reporting date, liabilities relating to these contracts amounted to $804,000 (2009 – $4,137,000). In the year ended 30 June 
2010 there was a loss from the decrease in fair value of interest rate swap contracts of $3,333,000 (2009 – $13,371,000).

(b)	 Interest rate risk exposure

Refer to note 2 for the Group’s exposure to interest rate risk on interest rate swaps.

(c)	 Credit risk exposure

Credit risk arises from the potential failure of counterparties to meet their obligations under the respective contracts at maturity. 
This arises with amounts receivable from unrealised gains on derivative financial instruments. The maximum exposure to credit 
risk at the reporting date is the carrying amount of the asset. There are no receivables on derivatives at balance date.
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Consolidated

2010 2009

$’000 $’000

20.	 Current liabilities – Provisions

Employee benefits – long service leave (b) 4,500 5,140

Libel expenses (a)(i) 225 290

Restructuring (a)(ii) - 14,030

4,725 19,460

(a)	 Movements in provisions

(i)	 Provision for libel expenses

Carrying amount at start of year 290 350

Provision no longer required (65) (60)

Carrying amount at end of year 225 290

The amount at the end of the reporting period represents a provision for libel claims against 
the Group in relation to published material.

(ii)	 Provision for restructuring

Carrying amount at start of year 14,030 -

Amounts provided - 14,030

Amounts utilised (14,030) -

Carrying amount at end of year - 14,030

The restructuring provision included provision for employee redundancies and other personnel 
costs and provision for contract exit payments on the restructuring of the Group’s online 
services. The provision was fully utilised during the financial year.

(b)	 Amounts not expected to be settled within the next 12 months

The current provision for long service leave covers all unconditional entitlements where employees 
have completed the required period of service and also those where employees are entitled to 
pro-rata payments in certain circumstances. The entire amount of the provision is presented as 
current, since the Group does not have an unconditional right to defer settlement for any of these 
obligations. However, based on past experience, the Group does not expect all employees to take 
the full amount of accrued leave or require payment within the next 12 months. The following 
amounts reflect leave that is not to be expected to be taken or paid within the next 12 months.

Long service leave obligations expected to be settled after 12 months of the reporting date 3,475 3,336

21.	 Current liabilities – Other

Deferred revenue 1,962 825
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Consolidated

2010 2009

$’000 $’000

22.	 Non-current liabilities – Borrowings
Bills payable – secured (a) 261,000 318,000

(a)	 Financial arrangements

Bills payable are drawn under various bill facilities for the Group totalling $280,000,000 (2009 – $380,000,000) which have an average 
maturity of 2.4 years from 30 June 2010 (2009 – 1.4 years from 30 June 2009). The facilities are secured by interlocking guarantees 
and indemnities given by the Parent Entity and subsidiaries. The facilities are subject to a negative pledge that imposes certain 
covenants upon the Parent Entity and certain subsidiaries, being:

(i)	 Gearing Ratio: the ratio of Total External Net Debt (excluding Contingent Liabilities) to Earnings Before Interest, Tax, 
Depreciation and Amortisation (EBITDA) will not exceed 3.5 times;

(ii)	 Financial Charges Cover: EBITDA will not at any time fall below a figure of 5 times the total amount of net interest; and

(iii)	Guarantee Group: the Guarantee Group comprises not less than 85% of the Consolidated Group’s Total Assets and Earnings 
Before Interest and Tax (EBIT).

(b)	 Fair value

The carrying value and fair value of Group borrowings at the end of the financial year was $261,000,000 (2009 – $318,000,000).

(c)	 Risk Exposures

Information about the Group’s exposure to interest rate changes is provided in note 2.

Consolidated

2010 2009

$’000 $’000

23.	 Non-current liabilities – Deferred tax liabilities
The balance comprises temporary differences attributable to :

Property, plant and equipment (including computer software) 14,444 13,000

Intangible assets 1,145 1,145

Other 725 512

16,314 14,657

Set-off of deferred tax assets (note 16) (5,390) (10,669)

Net deferred tax liabilities 10,924 3,988

Deferred tax liabilities to be settled after more than 12 months 15,514 14,055

Deferred tax liabilities to be settled within 12 months 800 602

16,314 14,657



West 
Australian 

Newspapers 
Holdings 

Limited

Annual 
Report 

2010

63
Notes to the financial statements

30 June 2010

23.	 Non-current liabilities – Deferred tax liabilities (continued)

Cash flow 
hedges

Property,  
plant and 

equipment*
Intangible 

assets Other Total

	 Movements - Consolidated $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

	 At 1 July 2008 2,770 11,165 1,145 238 15,318

Charged/(credited)

- to profit or loss (note 9(a)) - 1,835 - 274 2,109

- to other comprehensive income (2,770) - - - (2,770)

	 At 30 June 2009 - 13,000 1,145 512 14,657

Charged/(credited)

- to profit or loss (note 9(a)) - 1,444 - 213 1,657

	 At 30 June 2010 - 14,444 1,145 725 16,314

* Includes computer software

Consolidated

2010 2009

$’000 $’000

24.	 Non-current liabilities – Provisions
Employee benefits – long service leave 950 966

25.	 Contributed equity
(a)	 Share capital

214,167,596 (2009 – 210,044,210) Ordinary shares fully paid (notes 25(b) and 25(c)) 126,520 100,949

(b)	 Movements in ordinary share capital

Date	 Details
Number of 

shares
Issue 
price $’000

1/7/08	 Opening balance 206,276,937 88,037

31/3/09	 Dividend reinvestment plan share issues (note 25(d)) 3,204,023 $3.9171 12,550

			�  Proceeds received relating to the executive and employee share 
purchase plans (note 38) 563,250 362

30/6/09	 Balance 210,044,210 100,949

30/9/09	 Dividend reinvestment plan share issues (note 25(d)) 1,215,837 $6.3200 7,684

31/3/10	 Dividend reinvestment plan share issues (note 25(d)) 2,338,049 $7.1680 16,759

			�  Proceeds received relating to the executive and employee share 
purchase plans (note 38) 569,500 1,128

30/6/10	 Balance 214,167,596 126,520
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25.	 Contributed equity (continued)

(c)	 Ordinary shares

Ordinary shares entitle the holder to participate in dividends and the proceeds on winding up of the Company in proportion to the 
number of and amounts paid on the shares held.

On a show of hands every holder of ordinary shares present at a meeting in person or by proxy, is entitled to one vote, and upon a 
poll each share is entitled to one vote.

The total number of shares issued by the Company is 216,011,546 (2009 – 212,457,660) and differs from the amount disclosed in 
note 25(a) as shares relating to outstanding loans pursuant to the executive and employee share plans and numbering 1,843,950 
shares (2009 – 2,413,450) are treated as options.

(d)	 Dividend reinvestment plan

The Company has established a dividend reinvestment plan under which holders of ordinary shares may elect to have all or part of 
their dividend entitlements satisfied by the issue of new ordinary shares rather then by being paid in cash. Shares are issued under 
the plan at a price determined by the board.

(e)	 Share buy-backs

There is no current on-market buy-back.

(f)	 Capital risk management

The Group’s and the Parent Entity’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard their ability to continue as a going concern, 
so that they can continue to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital 
structure to reduce the cost of capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders, return 
capital to shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets to reduce debt.

Consolidated

2010 2009

$’000 $’000

26.	 Reserves and retained profits/(accumulated deficit)
(a)	 Hedging reserve – cash flow hedges

Balance at the beginning of the financial year (2,896) 6,464

Revaluation – gross (note 19) 3,334 (13,371)

Deferred tax (notes 16 and 23) (1,000) 4,011

Balance at the end of the financial year (562) (2,896)

(b)	 Equity compensation reserve

Balance at the beginning of the financial year 149 1,621

Decrease during the financial year (note 38(a)(i)) - (1,472)

Balance at the end of the financial year 149 149

(413) (2,747)

	 Nature and purpose of reserves

(i)	 Hedging reserve – cash flow hedges

The hedging reserve is used to record gains or losses on a hedging instrument in a cash flow hedge that are recognised 
directly in other comprehensive income, as described in note 1(o). Amounts are recognised in profit or loss when the associated 
hedged transaction affects profit or loss.

(ii)	 Equity compensation reserve

The equity compensation reserve is used to recognise the fair value of share rights granted as compensation.
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Consolidated

2010 2009

$’000 $’000

26.	 Reserves and retained profits/(accumulated deficit) (continued)
(c)	 Retained profits/(accumulated deficit)

Accumulated deficit at the beginning of the financial year (30,399) (3,742)

Net profit for the year 96,223 87,244

Dividends (note 27) (61,380) (113,901)

Retained profits/(accumulated deficit) at the end of the financial year 4,444 (30,399)

27.	 Dividends
Final ordinary dividend for the year ended 30 June 2009 of 10 cents per share (2008 – 32 cents), 
fully franked based on tax paid at 30%, paid on 30 September 2009 (2008 – 30 September 2008) 21,071 66,244

Interim ordinary dividend for the year ended 30 June 2010 of 19 cents per share (2009 – 23 cents), 
fully franked based on tax paid at 30%, paid on 31 March 2010 (2009 – 31 March 2009) 40,309 47,657

61,380 113,901

	 Dividends not recognised at year end

In addition to the above dividends, since year end the directors have declared a final dividend of 
26 cents per ordinary share (2009 – 10 cents), fully franked based on tax paid at the rate of 30%. 
The aggregate amount of the dividend payable on 30 September 2010, but not recognised as a 
liability at year end, is 55,797 21,061

	 Franked dividends

The franked dividend declared after 30 June 2010 will be franked out of existing franking credits 
or out of franking credits arising from the receipt of franked dividends and the payment of income 
tax in the year ending 30 June 2011.

Franking credits available for subsequent financial years based on a tax rate of 30% (2009 – 30%) 20,718 13,453

The above amounts represent the balance of the franking account as at the end of the financial year, adjusted for:

(a)	 franking credits that will arise from the payment of the current tax liability;

(b)	 franking debits that will arise from the payment of dividends recognised as a liability at the reporting date; and

(c)	 franking credits that will arise from the receipt of dividends recognised as receivables at the reporting date.

The impact on the franking account of the dividend declared by the directors since year end, but not recognised as a liability at 
year end, will be a reduction in the franking account by $24,070,000 (2009 – $9,105,000).
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Consolidated

2010 2009

$ $

28.	 Key management personnel disclosures
(a)	 Key management personnel compensation

Short-term employee benefits 4,128,952 3,526,584

Post-employment benefits

-	 Superannuation 344,400 461,953

-	 Termination benefits 211,951 3,870,671

Share-based payments 235,364 (655,978)

4,920,667 7,203,230

Detailed remuneration disclosures in respect of directors and each key management person are provided in the remuneration 
report on pages 25 to 31.

(b)	 Equity instrument disclosures relating to key management personnel

(i)	 Share rights provided as remuneration and shares issued on exercise of such rights

Share rights provided as remuneration and shares issued on the exercise of such rights, together with the terms and conditions 
of the rights, can be found in Section D of the remuneration report on pages 30 and 31.

(ii)	 Share right holdings

The numbers of share rights over ordinary shares in the Company held during the previous financial year by each director of 
West Australian Newspapers Holdings Limited and other key management personnel of the Group, including their personally 
related parties, are set out below. No share rights were granted as compensation during the current financial year.

2009

Name

Balance at 
the start of 

the year
Share rights 

forfeited Exercised

Balance at 
the end of 

the year Vested Unvested

Directors of West Australian Newspapers Holdings Limited 

KN Steinke (resigned 11/12/08) 202,000 (184,000) (18,000) - - -

Other key management personnel of the Group

PA Armstrong 12,482 - (12,482) - - -

RA Billington 8,943 - (8,943) - - -

AR Bradshaw 9,101 - (9,101) - - -

PJ Bryant 1,720 - (1,720) - - -

TL Garven 14,859 - (14,859) - - -

LM Roche 12,482 - (12,482) - - -

PF Stevens 12,482 - (12,482) - - -
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28.	 Key management personnel disclosures (continued)

(b)	 Equity instrument disclosures relating to key management personnel (continued)

(iii)	Shareholdings

The numbers of ordinary shares in the Company held during the financial year by each director of West Australian 
Newspapers Holdings Limited and each of the other key management personnel of the Group, including their personally-
related entities, are set out below.

2010

Name

Balance at 
the start of 

the year

Received 
during the 

period on the 
exercise of 

share rights

Other shares 
received 

during the 
period as 

compens-
ation

Other 
changes 

during the 
period

Balance at 
the end of 

the year

Directors of West Australian Newspapers Holdings Limited

KM Stokes AC 49,301,667 - 10,015 2,322,723 51,634,405

DR Flynn 4,386 - 3,820 - 8,206

PJT Gammell 4,322 - 3,821 277 8,420

GT John AO 3,233 - 3,820 231 7,284

DR Voelte 3,233 - 3,821 - 7,054

SMC Walsh AO 6,466 - 7,641 7,962 22,069

Other key management personnel of the Group

DM Bignold (appointed 1/8/09) - - - 2,000 2,000

RA Billington 8,943 - - 141 9,084

PJ Bryant 1,720 - - - 1,720

TL Garven (retired 6/11/09) 197,559 - - - 197,559*

BA McCarthy - - - - -

LM Roche 30,200 - - 4,300 34,500

PF Stevens (retired 30/11/09) 27,449 - - - 27,449*

CS Wharton 10,211 - - 6,007 16,218

*	 Balance at date of retirement
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28.	 Key management personnel disclosure (continued)

(b)	 Equity instrument disclosures relating to key management personnel (continued)

(iii)	Shareholdings (continued)

2009

Name

Balance at  
the start of 

the year

Received 
during the 

period on the 
exercise of 

share rights

Other shares 
received 

during the 
period as 

compens-
ation

Other 
changes 

during the 
period

Balance at  
the end of 

the year

Directors of West Australian Newspapers Holdings Limited

KM Stokes AC (appointed 25/9/08) 46,558,342* - 9,564 2,733,761 49,301,667

DR Flynn (appointed 6/8/08) -* - 4,386 - 4,386

E Fraunschiel (retired 5/11/08) 44,706 - 814 - 45,520**

PJT Gammell (appointed 25/9/08) -* - 4,322 - 4,322

GT John AO (appointed 3/12/08) -* - 3,233 - 3,233

PJ Mansell (resigned 3/12/08) 46,518 - 11,403 - 57,921**

JA Seabrook (resigned 3/12/08) 28,560 - 2,279 - 30,839**

KN Steinke (resigned 11/12/08) 18,000 18,000 - - 36,000**

DR Voelte (appointed 11/12/08) -* - 3,233 - 3,233

SMC Walsh AO (appointed 11/12/08) -* - 6,466 - 6,466

MK Ward AO (resigned 3/12/08) 17,366 - 2,280 - 19,646**

Other key management personnel of the Group

PA Armstrong (resigned 16/1/09) 12,100 12,482 - - 24,582**

RA Billington - 8,943 - - 8,943

AR Bradshaw (resigned 31/12/08) 1,900 9,101 - - 11,001**

PJ Bryant - 1,720 - - 1,720

TL Garven 182,700 14,859 - - 197,559

BA McCarthy (appointed 23/3/09) -* - - - -

LM Roche 17,718 12,482 - - 30,200

PF Stevens 14,967 12,482 - - 27,449

CS Wharton (appointed 15/12/08) 10,211* - - - 10,211

BO Yates (retired 31/7/08) 12,400 - - - 12,400**

*	 Balance at date of appointment

**	 Balance at date of resignation/retirement
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28.	 Key management personnel disclosure (continued)

(b)	 Equity instrument disclosures relating to key management personnel (continued) 

(iv)	Shares held under suspended share plans

The numbers of shares in the Company held under suspended employee and executive share plans during the financial year 
and treated as options by each of the key management personnel of the Group, are set out below. All shares held under the 
plans are vested.

2010

Name

Balance at  
the start of 

the year

Changes  
during  

the year

Balance at  
the end of  

the year

Key management personnel of the Group

LM Roche 74,100 - 74,100

PF Stevens (retired 30/11/09) 113,700 - 113,700*

2009

Name

Balance at  
the start of 

the year

Changes  
during  

the year

Balance at  
the end of  

the year

Key management personnel of the Group

LM Roche 74,100 - 74,100

PF Stevens 113,700 - 113,700

For further details of shares held under share plans, refer notes 1(w)(iii) and 38

*	 Balance at date of retirement

Consolidated

2010 2009

$ $

29.	 Remuneration of auditors
Remuneration of the auditors of the Group for:

	 Audit or review of the financial reports 264,640 227,700

	 Other services

Taxation consultancy services 129,775 66,064

Taxation compliance services 49,150 52,950

Advisory services 7,350 7,150

Other audit-related services 107,236 46,880

Total other services 293,511 173,044

558,151 400,744
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Consolidated

2010 2009

$’000 $’000

30.	 Contingent liabilities
The Group had contingent liabilities at 30 June 2010 in respect of:

Termination benefits in respect of service agreements entered into by the Parent Entity and 
subsidiaries which may, in appropriate circumstances, become payable to the chief executive 
officer and other executives. 1,389 1,454

For contingent liabilities relating to associates refer note 35(f).

No material losses are anticipated in respect of any of the above contingent liabilities.

31.	 Commitments
(a)	 Capital commitments

Commitments for the acquisition of property, plant and equipment contracted for at the reporting 
date but not recognised as liabilities, payable within one year. 2,105 3,372

(b)	 Operating lease commitments

The Group leases various offices, radio transmission equipment and sites and residential premises 
under non-cancellable operating leases expiring within 9 years (2009 – 4 years). The leases have 
varying terms, escalation clauses and renewal rights. On renewal, the terms of the leases are 
renegotiated.

Commitments for minimum lease payments in relation to non-cancellable operating leases 
contracted for at the reporting date but not recognised as liabilities, payable:

Within one year 1,095 807

Later than one year but not later than five years 2,148 777

Later than five years 234 -

3,477 1,584
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Consolidated

2010 2009

$ $

32.	 Related party transactions
(a)	 Parent entity

West Australian Newspapers Holdings Limited is the ultimate Australian parent entity  
within the Group.

(b)	 Subsidiaries

Interests in subsidiaries are set out in note 33.

(c)	 Key management personnel

Disclosures relating to key management personnel are set out in note 28.

(d)	 Transactions with related parties

The following transactions occurred with related parties:

Sale of goods, advertising and other services

Printing services to associate 4,472,376 1,611,045

Advertising and other services to entities controlled or jointly controlled by an entity of which  
the Group is an associate 626,712 20,015

Communications services to an entity controlled by an entity of which the Group is an associate 79,664 74,106

Purchase of goods, advertising and other services

Advertising and other services from entities jointly controlled by an entity of which the Group  
is an associate 719,311 204,103

Engineering services from an entity jointly controlled by an entity of which the Group is an 
associate 49,180 -

Transport, facility hire and function management from an entity of which the Group is an 
associate 163,330 -

Website arrangement

A company in the Group has entered into an arrangement with an entity controlled by an entity 
of which the Group is an associate. The arrangement provides for the sharing of costs and 
revenue in relation to the Group’s website. The terms of the arrangement were commercially 
negotiated on an arms length basis.

(e)	� Outstanding balances arising from sales/purchases of goods, advertising and other 
services

The following balances are outstanding at the end of the reporting period in relation to transactions 
with related parties:

Current receivables (sales of goods, advertising and other services)

Associate 341,588 357,172

Entities controlled or jointly controlled by an entity of which the Group is an associate 80,259 30,209

Current payables (purchase of goods, advertising and other services)

Entities controlled or jointly controlled by an entity of which the Group is an associate 209,633 71,120

There is no allowance account for impaired receivables in relation to any outstanding balances, 
and no expense has been recognised in respect of impaired receivables due from related parties.

(f)	 Terms and conditions

Transactions were made on normal commercial terms and conditions.
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33.	 Subsidiaries
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the assets, liabilities and results of the following subsidiaries in accordance with 
the accounting policy described in note 1(b).

West Australian Newspapers Holdings Limited (ultimate parent entity)

Its subsidiary being:

Harlesden Investments Pty Ltd

Its subsidiary being:

Western Mail Operations Pty Ltd

Its subsidiary being:

West Australian Newspapers Limited

Its subsidiaries being:

Albany Advertiser Pty Ltd

ComsNet Pty Ltd

Colorpress Australia Pty Ltd

ColourPress Pty Ltd

Geraldton Newspapers Pty Ltd

Its subsidiaries being:

Geraldton FM Pty Ltd

Great Northern Broadcasters Pty Ltd

Herdsman Print Centre Pty Ltd

Herdspress Leasing Pty Ltd

Hocking & Co. Pty Ltd

Quokka West Pty Ltd

Redwave Media Pty Ltd

Its subsidiaries being:

North West Radio Pty Ltd

Its subsidiary being:

Australian Regional Broadcasters Pty Ltd

Spirit Radio Network Pty Ltd

South West Printing and Publishing Company Limited

W.A. Broadcasters Pty Ltd

Its subsidiary being:

Quokka Press Pty Ltd

Its subsidiaries being:

Dansted and McCabe Holdings Pty Ltd

Riverlaw Holdings Pty Limited

West Australian Entertainment Pty Ltd

Its subsidiary being:

WAN Cinemas Pty Limited

Western Mail Pty Ltd

Westroyal Pty Ltd

(i)	 All subsidiaries are wholly-owned and, except for 100,000 preference shares held in West Australian Newspapers Limited (2009 
- 100,000), the class of shares is ordinary. All subsidiaries were also subsidiaries at 30 June 2009.

(ii)	 All subsidiaries are incorporated in Australia.

(iii)	West Australian Newspapers Holdings Limited and its subsidiaries have entered into a Deed of Cross Guarantee under which 
each company guarantees the debts of the others. For further information see note 34.
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34.	 Deed of cross guarantee
West Australian Newspapers Holdings Limited and its subsidiaries (note 33) are party to a Deed of Cross Guarantee under which 
each company guarantees the debts of the others. By entering into the deed, the wholly-owned entities required to prepare a 
financial report and directors’ report have been relieved from the requirement to do so under Class Order 98/1418 (as amended) 
issued by the Australian Securities and Investments Commission. The Deed of Cross Guarantee was entered into on 8 April 2004.

West Australian Newspapers Holdings Limited and its subsidiaries represent a ‘Closed Group’ for the purposes of the Class Order, 
and as there are no other parties to the Deed of Cross Guarantee that are controlled by West Australian Newspapers Holdings 
Limited, they also represent the ‘Extended Closed Group’.

As the Group and the Closed Group both comprise West Australian Newspapers Holdings Limited and its subsidiaries, the 
consolidated statement of comprehensive income and consolidated balance sheet for the Closed Group are the same as those for 
the Group presented on pages 36 and 37 of the financial statements.

35.	 Investments in associates

(a)	 Carrying amounts

Information relating to associates is set out below.

Name of entity Principal activities Ownership interest
Consolidated 

carrying amount

2010 2009 2010 2009

% % $’000 $’000

Community Newspaper Group Ltd Newspaper publishing 49.9 49.9 11,228 11,609

(i)	 The above entity is incorporated in Australia.

Consolidated

2010 2009

$’000 $’000

(b)	 Movements in carrying amounts

Carrying amount at the beginning of the financial year 11,609 11,882

Share of profit of associate after income tax 3,869 4,277

Dividends received (4,250) (4,550)

Carrying amount at the end of the financial year (note 13) 11,228 11,609

(c)	 Share of associate’s profit

Profit before income tax 5,687 6,208

Income tax expense (1,818) (1,931)

Share of net profit of associate disclosed in the statement of comprehensive income 3,869 4,277

(d)	 Summarised financial information of associates

The Group’s share of assets, liabilities, revenues and profits are:

Assets 15,255 14,704

Liabilities 4,425 3,493

Revenues 30,997 32,169

Profits after income tax 3,869 4,277
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35.	 Investments in associates (continued)

Consolidated

2010 2009

$’000 $’000

(e)	� Share of associate’s expenditure commitments, other than for the supply  
of inventories

Lease commitments 4,158 4,317

(f)	 Contingent liabilities

Termination benefits in respect of service agreements entered into by an associated company 
which may, in appropriate circumstances, become payable to executives 136 135

No material loss is anticipated in respect of the above contingent liability

36.	 Events occurring after the reporting date
There are no matters or circumstances which have arisen since 30 June 2010 that have significantly affected or may 
significantly affect the operations of the Group, the results of those operations, or the state of affairs of the Group in financial 
years subsequent to 30 June 2010.

37.	 Earnings per share

Consolidated

2010 2009

(a)	 Basic earnings per share

Profit attributable to the ordinary equity holders of the Company. 45.4 cents 42.1 cents

(b)	 Diluted earnings per share

Profit attributable to the ordinary equity holders of the Company. 45.0 cents 41.5 cents

Consolidated

2010 2009

$’000 $’000

(c)	 Earnings used in calculating earnings per share

Profit attributable to the ordinary equity holders of the Company used in calculating basic and 
diluted earnings per share. 96,223 87,244

Consolidated

2010 2009

(d)	 Weighted average number of shares used as the denominator

Weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year used in the calculation 
of basic earnings per share. 211,825,350 207,359,568

Adjustment for calculation of diluted earnings per share being shares issued pursuant to the 
suspended executive and employee share plans treated as options deemed to have been converted 
into ordinary shares at the beginning of the financial year.	 2,128,700 2,695,075

Weighted average number of ordinary shares and potential ordinary shares used as the 
denominator in calculating diluted earnings per share 213,954,050 210,054,643
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38.	 Share-based payments
The total expense recognised for share-based payments for 
all plans during the financial year for the Group was $235,364 
(2009 – $245,222).

Details of share-based plans in operation are as follows:

(a)	 Share rights granted as compensation

(i)	� Long term incentive (LTI) program – chief executive 
officer (CEO)

The theme of linking remuneration policy directly to 
company performance for 2010/11 is extended to LTIs 
granted to the CEO, who is entitled to receive share 
rights on the basis outlined below.

The CEO’s LTI program, under which equity in the 
Company can be earned, has two hurdles, or assessment 
points, which ultimately determine his LTI entitlement.

The first hurdle provides access to the program, and 
establishes an unvested number of share rights. The 
second hurdle determines the number of shares that vest 
and thus will be received by the CEO.

Under the first hurdle, which is applied annually on 30 
June, the CEO may be granted unvested share rights, in 
accordance with the following :

-	� Where reported EPS growth for the year is equal to 
CPI + 6%, the CEO is granted an allocation equal in 
value to 25% of his fixed annual remuneration (FAR).

-	� Where reported EPS growth for the year is equal to 
CPI + 8%, the CEO is granted an allocation equal in 
value to 50% of his FAR.

-	� Where reported EPS growth is between the two 
thresholds above, the allocation is determined on a 
pro-rata basis.

Once share rights have been granted, a second hurdle 
is applied to determine the number of shares that will 
ultimately vest.

The second hurdle is assessed three years after the 
shares were granted. The second hurdle is based on the 
Company’s Total Shareholder Return (TSR).

The TSR performance hurdles are :

-	� If TSR is within the 50-75 percentile of a comparative 
group, then the percentage ranking, multiplied by 
the available LTI share rights, will vest.

-	� If TSR is within the 75-100 percentile of a 
comparative group, then the percentage of available 
LTI share rights that vest will be from 75% to 
150% of the available share rights, calculated on a  
pro-rata basis.

In the event that minimum TSR performance hurdle for 
year three is not achieved, the share rights granted can 
be carried forward for two years, with a re-test performed 
in each of these years, based on the TSR over four or five 
years respectively.

The maximum value of shares issued under the LTI 
program, assuming all hurdles are passed at the highest 
level, equates to 75% of the CEO’s FAR.

For the year ended 30 June 2010 no share rights were 
granted under the terms of the CEO’s LTI program.

The board believes it is in the best interest of the 
Company to ensure that the CEO’s annual remuneration 
package is reasonable and represents an appropriate 
reward for both the financial and operational results 
achieved during the period. The board therefore reserves 
the right to, in exceptional circumstances, make a 
discretionary allocation of share rights to the CEO.

Share rights previously granted to the former chief 
executive officer and managing director, Mr Ken Steinke, 
as part of his remuneration package, were forfeited on 
the termination of his employment on 11 December 2008 
and an amount of $901,200 was reversed out of the equity 
compensation reserve during the previous financial year 
(note 26(b)).

(ii)	 Deferred bonus plan – other executives

The operation of this plan was terminated on 1 July 2009. 
The value of incentives previously associated with the 
plan was consolidated into a cash incentive program  
for 2009/10.

Particulars of the plan and share rights issued/exercised 
during the previous financial year are set out below.

For the year ended 30 June 2009, an amount equivalent 
to a proportion of the executive’s salary package became 
available to be earned if the Company achieves a target 
earnings per share growth rate at the end of that financial 
year. No deferred bonus is earned unless the annual 
growth in normalised earnings per share is equivalent 
to the rate of inflation plus 4%. At 4% above the rate of 
inflation, half the deferred bonus is earned and at 8% or 
more above the rate of inflation, the full bonus is earned. 
Pro-rata amounts are earned at growth rates between 
4% and 8% above the rate of inflation. The bonus is 
paid to executives in the form of fully paid shares in 
the Company, either purchased on-market or issued, as 
decided by the board. These shares are held in trust and 
can only be traded by the executive after expiry of the 
restriction period. This period is three years for 30% of 
the shares, four years for the next 20% and five years for 
the final 50%. The restriction period is not affected by an 
executive leaving the Company but dividends are paid to 
executives during this period.

For the year to 30 June 2009, 35% of the executive fixed 
annual remuneration was available for the deferred bonus 
share plan, however, as targets were not achieved no 
shares were issued under the plan relating to that year.
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38.	 Share-based payments (continued)

(a)	 Share rights granted as compensation (continued)

(ii)	 Deferred bonus plan – other executives (continued)

Set out below is a summary of the number of share rights exercised under the plan during the previous financial year relating to 
performance during the year ended 30 June 2008.

Grant date

Balance at 
the start of 

the year
Granted as 

compensation

Exercised 
during the 

year

Balance at 
the end of 

the year

Unvested at 
end of the 

year

Group – 2009

5/8/08 95,022 - (95,022) - -

The observed average share price used to determine the value at grant date of the share rights granted in relation to the year 
ended 30 June 2008 was $8.48 per right.

(b)	 Non-executive directors share plan

In order to more closely align the interests of the non-

executive directors with shareholder interests in the creation 

of value for shareholders as a whole, non-executive directors 

are obliged to receive at least 25% of their annual fees as 

shares in the Company. These shares are purchased on-

market at prevailing prices and must be held for ten years 

unless the director retires or a specified event occurs, such 

as if a takeover bid is made for the Company.

The total number of shares received by directors of the 

Company during the financial year in accordance with the 

plan was 32,938 (2009 – 47,980). The total value of shares 

received by directors during the financial year in accordance 

with the plan was $235,364 (2009 – $245,222), as determined 

by the observed market price.

(c)	 Executive and employee share plans

Plans for the purchase of shares in the Company by 

executives and employees have been suspended and have 

not been used since 2002. Details of the plans are as follows:

The issue price of shares allotted under the plans was the 

average sale price of all shares sold on the ASX during the 5 

days preceding allotment. Under the plans West Australian 

Newspapers Limited (a subsidiary), lent the full issue price 

to employees/executives on an interest-free basis. Loans 

were secured by share mortgages/liens over shares issued 

in accordance with the plans and during employment are 

repaid from net dividends (after taxation). While shares are 

subject to these restrictions, they are not permitted to be 

hedged or in any other way dealt with.

In the event of cessation of employment of employees/

executives, loans are repayable but West Australian 

Newspapers Limited cannot claim or demand outstanding 

moneys other than to the extent of proceeds realised from 

the disposal of shares secured under the plans.

The total number of shares issued under the plans in the 

previous five years must not exceed 5% of the total number of 

shares on issue. No shares have been issued in the previous 

five years under the plans.

(i)	� West Australian Newspapers Holdings Limited Executive 
Share Purchase and Loan Plan

This plan was approved at the annual general meeting 
of the Company on 9 October 1992. The operation of this 
plan has been suspended and no executives have been 
invited to apply for shares since 2002.

Senior executives of the Group were from time to time 
invited to apply for shares as determined by the board 
of directors.

Shares issued under the plan were not able to be sold 
until the expiry of three years from date of issue. Up to 
half the shares could have been sold during the fourth 
and fifth year and there were no restrictions on sale after 
five years from the date of issue. The loans are repayable 
immediately upon termination of employment except in 
cases of termination due to death, total and permanent 
disablement, retirement or other circumstances approved 
by the directors, where two years are allowed for 
repayment of the loan.

In all other respects the shares previously issued in 
accordance with the plan rank equally with other fully-
paid ordinary shares on issue.

(ii)	� West Australian Newspapers Holdings Limited Employee 
Share Plan

This plan was approved at the annual general meeting of 
the Company on 22 October, 1993. The operation of the 
plan has been suspended and no employees have been 
invited to apply for shares since 2002.

Where an allocation of shares was made under the plan, 
eligible employees were invited to participate. Eligible 
employees were those who:

-	� were permanent employees of the Group on either 
a full-time or part-time (minimum 20 hours per  
week) basis;

-	 were 18 years of age or over;

-	 had completed 12 months continuous employment.

The total number of shares for which employees were 
invited to apply was determined by the board of directors 
with allocations to individual employees being based on 
salary levels.
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38.	 Share-based payments (continued)

(c)	 Executive and employee share plans (continued)

(ii)	� West Australian Newspapers Holdings Limited Employee Share Plan (continued)

Shares under the plan were not able to be sold until the earlier of two years after issue or cessation of employment with the 
Group. In all other respects the shares rank equally with other fully-paid ordinary shares on issue.

Under AASB 2 Share-based Payment, the plans are deemed as equity settled, share-based remuneration and treated as an 
in-substance grant of options. The Group has taken advantage of the exemption in AASB 1 First-time Adoption of Australian 
Equivalents to International Financial Reporting Standards not to apply AASB 2 to shares issued under these plans.

Refer note 1(w)(iii) for accounting policy relating to share-based payments.

Consolidated

2010 2009

$’000 $’000

39.	� Reconciliation of profit after income tax to net cash inflow from  
operating activities
Profit for the year 96,223 87,244

Non-cash items

Depreciation and amortisation 20,932 20,529

Net gain on sale of non-current assets (468) (40)

Non-cash employee benefits expense – share-based payments - (1,472)

Dividend received from associate in excess of share of equity accounted net profit 381 273

Transfers from plant and equipment to inventories 1,021 -

Changes in operating assets and liabilities

(Increase)/decrease in receivables (2,597) 12,389

(Increase)/decrease in inventories (853) 441

Increase in other operating assets (1,516) (186)

Decrease in payables (1,753) (1,476)

Increase in other operating liabilities 1,137 344

(Decrease)/increase in tax liabilities (258) 2,904

Increase/(decrease) in net deferred tax liabilities 5,937 (1,724)

(Decrease)/increase in other provisions (14,751) 14,163

Net cash inflow from operating activities 103,435 133,389
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40.	 Parent Entity financial information

(a)	 Summary of financial information

The individual financial statements for the Parent Entity show the following aggregate amounts:

Parent Entity

2010 2009

$’000 $’000

	 Balance sheet

Current assets 39,515 40,266

Total assets 187,186 187,925

Current liabilities 6,627 6,935

Total liabilities 39,664 65,583

Shareholders’ equity

Issued capital 126,520 100,949

Reserves

Asset revaluation reserve 8,352 8,352

Equity compensation reserve (86) (86)

Retained earnings 12,736 13,127

147,522 122,342

Profit for the year 60,989 122,769

Total comprehensive income 60,989 122,769

(b)	 Guarantees entered into by the Parent Entity

The Parent Entity has provided financial guarantees in respect of borrowings of a subsidiary amounting to $261,000,000  
(2009 – $318,000,000). No liability was recognised by the Parent Entity in relation to these guarantees, as the fair value of the 
guarantees is immaterial.

In addition, there are cross guarantees given by West Australian Newspapers Holdings Limited and its subsidiaries described in 
note 34.

(c)	 Contingent liabilities of the Parent Entity

The Parent Entity did not have any contingent liabilities as at 30 June 2010 or 30 June 2009.

For information about guarantees given by the Parent Entity refer above.
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Directors’ declaration

In the directors’ opinion:

(a)	 the financial statements and notes set out on pages 36 to 78 are in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, including:

(i)	 complying with Accounting Standards, the Corporations Regulations 2001 and other mandatory professional reporting 
requirements; and

(ii)	 giving a true and fair view of the Consolidated Entity’s financial position as at 30 June 2010 and of its performance for the 
financial year ended on that date; and

(b)	 there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts as and when they become due and payable; 
and

(c)	 at the date of this declaration, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the members of the Extended Closed Group identified 
in note 33 will be able to meet any obligations or liabilities to which they are, or may become, subject by virtue of the deed of cross 
guarantee described in note 34.

Note 1(a) confirms that the financial statements also comply with International Financial Reporting Standards as issued by the 
International Accounting Standards Board.

The directors have been given the declarations by the chief executive officer and chief financial officer required by section 295A of the 
Corporations Act 2001.

This declaration is made in accordance with a resolution of the directors.

KM Stokes AC

Chairman

Perth, Western Australia

7 September 2010
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Independent auditor’s report to the members  
of West Australian Newspapers Holdings Limited

Report on the financial report

We have audited the accompanying financial report of West Australian Newspapers Holdings 
Limited (the company), which comprises the balance sheet as at 30 June 2010, and the statement 
of comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flows for the year 
ended on that date, a summary of significant accounting policies, other explanatory notes and the 
directors’ declaration for the West Australian Newspapers Holdings Group (the consolidated entity). 
The consolidated entity comprises the company and the entities it controlled at the year’s end or 
from time to time during the financial year.

Directors’ responsibility for the financial report

The directors of the company are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the 
financial report in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards (including the Australian 
Accounting Interpretations) and the Corporations Act 2001. This responsibility includes establishing 
and maintaining internal controls relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of the financial 
report that is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; selecting and applying 
appropriate accounting policies; and making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the 
circumstances. In Note 1(a), the directors also state, in accordance with Accounting Standard AASB 
101 Presentation of Financial Statements, that the financial statements comply with International 
Financial Reporting Standards.

Auditor’s responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial report based on our audit. We conducted 
our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. These Auditing Standards require 
that we comply with relevant ethical requirements relating to audit engagements and plan and 
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial report is free from material 
misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and 
disclosures in the financial report. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, 
including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether due 
to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant 
to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial report in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 
opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the 
appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made 
by the directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial report.

Our procedures include reading the other information in the Annual Report to determine whether it 
contains any material inconsistencies with the financial report.

Our audit did not involve an analysis of the prudence of business decisions made by directors or 
management.

Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
ABN 52 780 433 757

QV1
250 St Georges Terrace
PERTH WA 6000
GPO Box D198
PERTH WA 6840
DX 77 Perth
Australia
Telephone	 +61 8 9238 3000
Facisimile	 +61 8 9238 3999
www.pwc.com/au
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Independent auditor’s report to the members  
of West Australian Newspapers Holdings Limited (continued)
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 
basis for our audit opinions.

Independence

In conducting our audit, we have complied with the independence requirements of the Corporations 
Act 2001.

Auditor’s opinion

In our opinion:

(a)	 the financial report of West Australian Newspapers Holdings Limited is in accordance with 
the Corporations Act 2001, including:

(i)	 giving a true and fair view of the consolidated entity’s financial position as at 30 June 
2010 and of its performance for the year ended on that date; and

(ii)	 complying with Australian Accounting Standards (including the Australian Accounting 
Interpretations) and the Corporations Regulations 2001; and

(b)	 the financial report and notes also comply with International Financial Reporting Standards as 
disclosed in Note 1(a).

Report on the Remuneration Report
We have audited the remuneration report included in pages 25 to 31 of the directors’ report for the 
year ended 30 June 2010. The directors of the company are responsible for the preparation and 
presentation of the remuneration report in accordance with section 300A of the Corporations Act 
2001. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the remuneration report, based on our audit 
conducted in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards.

Auditor’s opinion

In our opinion, the remuneration report of West Australian Newspapers Holdings Limited for the 
year ended 30 June 2010, complies with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001.

PricewaterhouseCoopers

Justin Carroll

Partner

Perth 

7 September 2010

Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation.
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Shareholder information

The shareholder information set out below was applicable at 7 September 2010.

A.	 Distribution of equity securities

(a)	 Analysis of numbers of equity security holders by size of holding:

Size of holding
Number of 

shareholders

1 - 1,000 7,900

1,001 - 5,000 14,452

5,001 - 10,000 2,824

10,001 - 100,000 1,466

100,001 and over 62

26,704

(b)	 There were 254 holders of less than a marketable parcel of ordinary shares.

B.	 Equity security holders
The names of the twenty largest holders of equity securities are listed below:

Name

Number of 
ordinary  

shares held
Percentage of 
issued shares

Seven (WAN) Pty Limited 51,399,279 23.79

National Nominees Limited 12,702,063 5.88

HSBC Custody Nominees (Australia) Limited 12,456,869 5.77

J P Morgan Nominees Australia Limited 11,007,039 5.10

Australian Foundation Investment Company Limited 8,046,230 3.72

Citicorp Nominees Pty Limited 4,039,709 1.87

Australian Reward Investment Alliance 2,604,584 1.21

Cogent Nominees Pty Limited 2,528,795 1.17

Djerriwarrh Investments Limited 2,250,000 1.04

ANZ Nominees Limited <Cash Income A/C> 1,222,513 0.57

Milton Corporation Limited 1,059,223 0.49

Argo Investments Limited 1,039,558 0.48

RBC Dexia Investor Services Australia Nominees Pty Limited <MLCI A/C> 806,166 0.37

Queensland Investment Corporation 703,561 0.33

McCusker Holdings Pty Ltd 700,000 0.32

AMP Life Limited 694,492 0.32

Bond Street Custodians Limited <Macquarie Smaller Co's A/C> 601,838 0.28

Mirrabooka Investments Limited 575,000 0.27

HSBC Custody Nominees (Australia) Limited - A/C 2 574,895 0.27

Bond Street Custodians Limited <Macquarie Alpha Opport A/C> 551,186 0.26

115,563,000 53.51
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C.	 Substantial shareholders
Substantial shareholders in the Company are set out below:

Name

Number of 
ordinary  

shares held
Percentage of 
issued shares

Seven Group Holdings Limited and Subsidiaries 51,399,279 23.79

The above percentages include the relevant interests held pursuant to the Corporations Act 2001 and accordingly may differ from 
that disclosed in note B.

D.	 Voting rights
On a show of hands every member present in person or by proxy shall have one vote and upon a poll each share shall have  
one vote.
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Corporate information

Directors
KM Stokes AC

DR Flynn

PJT Gammell

GT John AO

DR Voelte

SMC Walsh AO

Secretary
PJ Bryant

Registered office
Newspaper House
50 Hasler Road
Osborne Park
Western Australia 6017

Telephone: (08) 9482 3111
Facsimile: (08) 9482 9080

Postal Address
GPO Box D162
Perth Western Australia 6840

Stock exchange listing
Australian Securities Exchange

Share registry
Computershare Investor Services Pty Ltd
45 St George’s Terrace
Perth Western Australia 6000

Telephone: (08) 9323 2000
Facsimile: (08) 9323 2033

Auditor
PricewaterhouseCoopers

Bankers
National Australia Bank Limited

Westpac Banking Corporation Limited
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